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Tecumseh Products Compamny

At Tecumseh Products Company we seek to benefit mankind by leveraging our broad expertise in mechan-

ical, electrical and related process, to design and manufacture products that improve the human condition.

Our products, including those produced by FASCO industries which was acquired on December 30, 2002,

serve four major segments through a variety of industrial, commercial and residential applications. Our glob-

al footprint includes manufacturing activities in 35 facilities across nine countries and sales in over 100

countries around the world.

We manufacture and market -

Centrifugal Pumps, Sump Pumps
and Small Submersible Pumps for
industrial, commercial, marine and
agricultural applications.

Gasoline Engines and Power
Trains for lawn mowers, lawn and
garden tractors, garden tillers,
string trimmers, snow throwers,
industrial and agricultural
applications and recreational
vehicles.

Hermetic Compressors for residential
and commercial refrigerators, freezers,
water coolers, dehumidifiers, window air
conditioning units and residential and
commercial central system air
conditioners and heat pumps.

26%

Electric Motors and Components,
including AC and DC motors, blowers,
gear motors and linear actuators for a
wide variety of industrial and consumer
applications across a broad range of
industries.

Learn more about Tecumseh Products at www.tecumseh.com




Fimamcial Summary

(Dollars in millions except per share data)
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2002(b) 2001(©) 2000(d)

Net sales $1,3438 $1,3989 $1.649.9

Operating income(®) 84.8 79.6 1202

% of net sales 6.3% 5.7% 7.3%

Net income 510 42.8 66.1

% of net sales 3.8% 3.1% 4.0%

Capital expenditures & business acquisition 466.8 78.8 64.0

Total assets 20630 1,519.8 1,553.1

Average number of shares outstanding (in thousands) 18,480 18,607 19.218

Per share of common stock:

Basic and diluted earnings

Net income $2.76 $2.30 $3.44

Net income exclusive of nonrecurring items 3.28 3.53 4.65

Cash dividends declared 1.28 1.28 128

Book value 5297 5291 5272

Cash provided by operating activities $1315 $173.0 $134.0

Average number of employees 16,900 16,800 17,800

(a) Operating income exclusive of the nonrecurring items referred to below.

(b) 2002 net income includes $4.5 million ($2.8 million net of tax) related to the relocation of certain
compressor manufacturing operations from the United States to Brazil, $4.1 million ($2.6 million net
of tax) associated with the relocation of engine component manufacturing, and the discontinuation of
production at the Grafton, Wisconsin facility, $1.7 million ($1.1 million net of tax) for additional
environmental clean up costs, and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting for goodwill ($3.1
million net of tax) related to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

(c) 2001 net income includes $29.3 million ($18.9 million net of tax) related to the cost of an early retirement
incentive program and an asset impairment charge of $6.1 million ($3.9 million net of tax) for unusable
equipment due to the transfer of certain engine and component part production from domestic facilities to
the Company’s facilities in the Czech Republic.

(d) 2000 net income includes a $33.5 million charge ($23.3 million net of tax) related to the realignment of
its North American and Indian compressor manufacturing operations.




Delivering Om Qur Promise

At Tecumseh, our mission is to design and manufacture products that improve the human condition, in a manner that
brings value to our customers and is responsible to our environment, our employees and the communities in which we
operate around the globe. This is a promise that has been central to our organization since the Tecumseh Products
Company was founded by Ray Herrick, in 1934 as a small U.S. company in rural Michigan. Since then, we have
expanded both our product offerings and our geographic footprint in pursuit of our mission. On December 30, 2002,
the Company took another significant step towards the fulfillment of our promise with the acquisition of Fasco Motors.

A typical home is full of hundreds of applications that utilize our core

products - compressors, electric motors, gasoline engines and pumps. In
all these applications, homeowners choose those products that deliver
the most performance at the least cost. Performance dimensions
include work capacity, energy efficiency, durability,
physical size, quietness, vibration and environmental
friendliness. At Tecumseh, we use the breadth of our
engineering expertise to deliver upon our promise to con-
sumers for better performing products.

But component performance is only one step in delivering great products
to end consumers. Tecumseh’s customers are the original equipment
manufacturers that create the value-added appliances and applications that end
up in the home and garage. Accordingly, in addition to technologically superior
components, they need outstanding service and delivery. Our promise to our customers is to engineer complete

solutions that improve their overall competitiveness, backed by great service.

The addition of Fasco enhances our ability to deliver on our promise to our customers by broadening our expertise in
fractional horsepower motors beyond the specialized compressors we currently produce. By combining individual
components into higher value added systems, the benefits to our customers include lower overall manufacturing costs,
greater productive capacity, and more easily serviced products. However, the addition of Fasco does not change
Tecumseh'’s primary decentralized operating philosophy where each operation remains independent. It is this model
that ensures that we remain responsive to our customers and deliver the products that meet their needs.

The following pages contain descriptions of the latest products that each of the Company’s segments are bringing to
market, as well as the ways in which the Company is dedicated to superior customer service. Through this approach
- superior products and outstanding service - Tecumseh Products Company is making a global impact.




Compressors

Tecumseh Products Company’s global compressor group has always enjoyed a reputation as a technology leader in
the Refrigeration Industry, and as one of the largest compressor manufacturers in the world. With manufacturing
operations in North America, Brazil, France and India, the Company’s global presence has allowed the Tecumseh
brand to be known worldwide.

In the past year, Tecumseh North America successfully launched an expanded line of Gray Base evaporative
condensing units, a complete refrigeration systems line, and a family of system controllers including those capable of
interactions with PDA devices.

The complete pre-charged refrigeration system, a plug and play unit, is to
be an important part of the future as it provides a value-added solution for
manufacturers.

The Gray Base evaporative unit built by Tecumseh Canada has evolved into
a more flexible unit that has the capability of using multiple compressors on
one unit base. This allows the unit to maintain premium capacity, while
maximizing space requirements and efficiency.

Tecumseh do Brasil reached a milestone in 2002 with the manufacture of
its 100,000,000th compressor in June. In addition, during the country’s
“Refrigeration Day”, Tecumseh received two highly prestigious awards
from the Brazilian Refrigeration Industry as company of the year both in
the Air Conditioning Industry and in the Commercial Refrigeration
Industry. Tecumseh do Brasil also completed the expansion of its rotary
facility significantly increasing manufacturing capacity.

Tecumseh India enjoyed significant SR s o
growth both domestically and inter- Tecumseh do Brasl
nationally during 2002, culminating a year off milestones and aoards ™
in its achieving the milestone of pro- - -
ducing over one million compressors in one calendar year in its Ballabgarh
facility. In addition, its Hyderabad facility significantly increased its exports of air
conditioning compressors making it a major base for Tecumseh exports. By
doubling the manufacturing capacity of the air conditioning plant in Hyderabad in
2002, Tecumseh India became the largest independent manufacturer of Air
Conditioning and Refrigeration compressors in India.

Globally, 2002 was an important year for Tecumseh Products Company’s compressor operations. The Company
continued to invest in key production capabilities and enhanced product offerings in order to effectively meet the needs
of its customers. This approach has positioned Tecumseh strategically for the future, providing the product strategy,
service and flexibility that the Company sees as the road map for success and growth needed in a rapidly changing
and competitive global industry.




Electrical Components

With the acquisition of Fasco Motors brings the creation of a new business segment for Tecumseh Products Company.

Fasco’s extensive motor manufacturing has been combined with Tecumseh’s North American motor and component

part manufacturing and electronics operation to form a business unit dedicated to meeting its customers broad and

unique needs.

|
|
} A sample of Fasco's diverse range of products

Over the course of nearly a century, Fasco has evolved
into one of the world’s leading manufacturers of
fractional horsepower motors for a wide variety of
applications within the HVAC, automotive, healthcare
and appliance industries among others as well. Its
integrated design and manufacturing facilities in the

North American and Asia Pacific regions produce a complete line of AC motors, DC motors, blowers, gearmotors and

linear actuators. This product line, backed by a emphasis on customer-driven, value-added solutions, has positioned

the company for strong growth domestically and in the expanding international marketplace.

The acquisition of Fasco brings Tecumseh an industry leading market position and reputation; comprehensive product

portfolio; broad, stable customer base; lean enterprise focus; innovative product development and application

engineering; and expanding global presence. Each of these elements is synergistic to Tecumseh and paramount to

Fasco’s existing infrastructure, enviable brand identity
and core competencies, which continually benefit
customers in an increasingly competitive marketplace.

The key to Fasco’s long-term success and strategy is
high value-added, customer-driven solutions in its niche
markets. The company’s team of sales, engineering
and manufacturing experts, work alongside customers
to provide varying degrees of product customization,
specific volume production runs, design and applica-
tion engineering assistance, rapid order cycle times,

superior quality and outstanding service.

Technician thoroughly testing a product




&, NI e
st ZE S

ngines *

For example, Fasco maintains highly sophisticated testing facilities, including one of the largest gas appliance testing
labs in the industry. Customers routinely ship their prototype products to the gas lab so that they can work hand-in-

hand with Fasco engineers to determine the most efficient stock or custom-designed product. The customer’s product

development time is significantly reduced and simultaneously Fasco engineers have the opportunity to develop value-
added products that can potentially improve performance and lower overall manufacturing cost. To emphasize this

critical service, Fasco routinely delivers over 5,000 prototypes per year to existing and prospective customers.

The drive to be a customer-driven company has resulted in a wealth of Fasco technology patents over the years. Recent
patented technology examples include: blowers and draft inducers — leading performance and low noise technology
for high efficiency gas furnaces and water heaters; variable speed motors — patented software algorithms for closed
loop air flow control without external sensors; and DC motors — low cost RFI noise suppression for automotive

applications, and brushless DC motor controls for HVAC.

Another key Fasco strength is its manufacturing infra-
structure that integrates production from the United
States, Mexico, and the fast growing Asia Pacific region.
Asia-Pacific manufactured products allow Fasco to
expand its geographic presence beyond currently served
markets such as Thailand, which has become a supply
point to Southeast Asian countries. Motors manufactured
in Asia under Fasco’s stringent technical and quality
standards will increasingly be used in value-added
products sold in the United States and also allow the
company to pursue sales in non-Asian export markets.

Learn more about FASCO at www.fasco.com

One of the Company’s other electrical components
operations has developed the DuraPower line of
Uninterruptible Alternative Power Systems (“UAPS”)
which eliminate the need for the batteries, rectifiers and
generators used in expensive and complex battery backup
systems. The system uses patented Written-Pole technol-
ogy to deliver stable and clean power without the spikes
and droops that normally are experienced from a utility
line.

The system can supply both AC and DC power depending
on the needs of the application, and the system utilizes an
engine supplied by Tecumseh’s Engine and Power Train
Group. This is one example where the Company is
combining product components to create products with a
global impact that deliver higher value-added solutions to
our customers.

DuraPower Prototype Unit




Engine & Power Train

The 1962 introduction of the Snow King® engine, the first gasoline
engine built strictly for snow thrower applications, established Tecumseh
as the world leader in snow thrower engines. This year’s launch of the
Snow King® Sterling™ V-Twin engine line marks another Tecumseh
first, the first twin-cylinder engines built specifically for snow thrower
applications.

The Sterling line enhances Tecumseh’s leadership position in snow thrower
engines, creating a new premium category characterized by low noise,
low vibration and increased power.

These V-Twin engines deliver a 60% reduction in vibration over single
cylinder models, resulting in reduced operator fatigue. The twin cam
design provides more working power under heavy loads.

The Sterling line includes six models from 8 to 13 HP. The
engines boast the largest displacement in their class, 412cc,
yet their compact design will fit the same footprint as current
single cylinder engines. The V-Twin snow thrower line is
based on Tecumseh’s LEAP (low emission, advanced
performance) technology.

The transmission team has responded to the growth of zero

turning radius riding mowers with the LTZ transaxle. A

hydrostatic transmission and gear reduction unit is contained

in split left and right side assemblies. This provides

( independent control of speed and direction for each wheel.

L Tecumseh’s power train leadership continues with responsive,
low-noise controls.

Product development is also focused on industry needs for lightweight
vertical shaft engines. Today’s products demand greater power from
compact, lightweight designs. To satisfy this need, Tecumseh has
developed a durable 195¢cc 7.0 HP OHV engine.

Designed for demanding applications such as generators, pressure washers
and mini-riders, this engine also satisfies the power requirements for
top-of-the-line walk behind mowers. The cross-flow head contributes to
high power output by helping to dissipate heat. An ultra-quiet muffler
enables greater power to be delivered with the lowest level of noise.

New products from the Engine and Transmission Group will deliver
power and durability while conforming to the highest expectations of
our customers.
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Little Giant Pump Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Tecumseh, continues to strengthen and leverage its worldwide
reputation as a reliable manufacturer of quality products used
predominantly in the plumbing, HVAC, industrial and lawn &
garden markets. And while Little Giant has a strong foundation
rooted in world-class engineering, manufacturing and logistics,
the company has embraced customer-centric product development
and database marketing initiatives to produce unequaled products,
services and programs that satisfy customers around the world.

Consumer focused merchandising programs remain the driving
force behind accelerating water gardening product sales with
home improvement retailers; whereas, advanced technologies
such as electronic control circuits, capacitance level sensors
and web-enabled remote monitoring programs (incorporated in
condensate and wastewater pumps/systems) are creating effective
and economical solutions for persistent problem applications
experienced by commercial customers.
Giant’s commitment to progressive innovation will ensure that

“Your Sciution Inmovator” y

On both counts, Little

customers have products with a global impact.

Flomax 4

HTO300

MP Pumps, Inc. has been a premier manufacturer of highly engineered,
quality centrifugal pumps for the industrial, commercial, agricultural,
marine and transportation markets for over 60 years. Fully committed to
quality, MP Pumps is ISO 9001 certified and produces such industry stan-
dards as the Flomax self-priming pumps, the HTO Hot Oil pumps and the
Chemflo stainless steel end-suction pumps. Utilizing state-of-the-art solid
modeling software, design for manufacturing techniques and fast prototyp-
ing capability MP Pumps minimizes the customer’s time from concept to
production. Both our design engineers and manufacturing capabilities are
very versatile allowing MP Pumps to offer a broad range of products in cast
or ductile iron, stainless steel, lead free bronze and aluminum construction.

In 2003 MP Pumps will introduce two new specific purpose, private label
pumps for industrial/commercial OEM customers, a unique state-of-the-art
circulator pump for the transportation market, a hydraulic de-watering
pump for the agriculture and utilities market and expansion of our Chemflo
line of stainless steel pumps to include hydraulic drives. Other additions
include a general economy line of mid-sized end-suction pumps for the
commercial distribution market.

MP Pumps continues to pursue profitable growth through adherence to our
policy to satisfy customers by consistently supplying them with products
that fully meet their requirements. Customer Satisfaction Today,
Tomorrow, Always!




Letter to Shareholders

In last year’s letter I indicated that 2001 was quite possibly one of the most difficult years our Company had
seen in the last twenty years. Unprecedented foreign competition, worldwide manufacturing over-capacity, regulatory
pressures, uncooperative weather and the tragic events of September 11 all combined to reduce the Company’s
results. Despite these challenges, we vowed to respond to our circumstances with renewed energy and determination
to build a stronger more profitable company. Having completed 2002, we are pleased to report that the employees of
Tecumseh Products Company are fulfilling that promise.

As a result of continued rationalization of the Company, the Compressor operations showed positive results in
2002 with Compressor Group operating profit improving 43% over the prior year. We had similar success in the
Pump group where operating profit improved 28% over the prior year. We did not, however, have similar success in
the Engine & Power Train Group. A primary reason for the decline in this segment was rather weak industry sales
of snow throwers, which are currently a critical market for the Group.

Beyond just operating results and perhaps more importantly, we remain dedicated to our mission to design and
manufacture products that improve the human condition, to create a workplace of mutual respect and pride, where
employees can build foundations for their families, and to be responsible to the communities in which we operate.
As management, we are keenly aware of the importance of our stewardship in maintaining a healthy organization
that can pursue its mission today, tomorrow and well into the future.

During 2002 we took some very significant steps to solidify the Company’s future. Foremost, on December 30,
2002 we purchased the FASCO Motors Group, a leading manufacturer of fractional horsepower electric motors in
the U.S. market. The acquisition serves several strategic objectives. First, it positions the Company to build more
complete value-added systems for our customers across each of our markets. Second, it provides an opportunity to
expand into additional geographic markets and applications. And third, it provides a prudent investment for our
extensive cash resources. FASCO has a sound organization and shares the same core values as our other business
segments.

The acquisition is indicative of the Company’s key strategy of delivering greater value to our customers, by
leveraging our broad expertise in mechanical and electrical engineering, and common manufacturing processes.
However, at the same time, by operating our compressor, engine, pump and motor business units independently,
each remains focused and responsive to the needs of our customers.

While we have much for which to be proud in 2002, there is still substantial work to be done. There is no end to
our mission, nor is there a finish line to cross. We must make it better, faster, safer, cheaper and more reliable every
day. This is the challenge to which every Tecumseh Products Company employee is dedicated.

On February 26, 2003, at the age of 81, my father and Chairman of the Board of Tecumseh Products Company,
Kenneth Herrick, announced his retirement after 63 years of service to the Company. The Chairman was one of
those dedicated employees with whom Tecumseh has been blessed. Because of his efforts and the efforts of his
contemporaries, we must give thanks for much of the success we have enjoyed. The Board of Directors, employees,
and I want to thank the Chairman for the years he has given us and wish him the best in his retirement.

TS6dd W. Herrick
Chairman of the Board of Directors,
CEO and President January 31, 2003
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Item 1. Business

General

Tecumseh Products Company (the “Company”) is a full line, independent global manufacturer of
hermetic compressors for air conditioning and refrigeration products, gasoline engines and power train
components for lawn and garden applications, and pumps. In addition, as of December 30, 2002, due to the
acquisition of the FASCO Motors Group (“FASCO”), the Company also manufactures fractional horse-
power electric motors and related products for a broad range of residential and commercial applications. The
Company believes it is one of the largest independent producers of hermetically sealed compressors in the
world, one of the world’s leading manufacturers of small gasoline engines and power train products used in
lawn and garden applications, and one of the leading manufacturers of fractional horsepower motors for the
United States market. The Company also produces a variety of pump products with a wide range of
applications. The Company’s products are sold in countries all around the world.

Prior to the acquisition of FASCO, the Company grouped its products into three principal market
segments: Compressor Products, Engine & Power Train Products and Pump Products. With the addition of
FASCO, the Company will form a new market segment referred to as Electrical Components. This market
segment will include FASCO and certain other operations that were formerly grouped with Compressor
Products.

Compressor Products include a broad range of air conditioning and refrigeration compressors, as well as
refrigeration condensing units, The Company’s.compressor products range from fractional horsepower models
used in small refrigerators and dehumidifiers to large compressors used in unitary air conditioning applications.
The Company sells compressors in all four compressor market segments: (i) household refrigerators and
freezers; (ii) room air conditioners; (iii) commercial and residential unitary central air conditioning systems;
and (iv) commercial refrigeration applications including freezers, dehumidifiers, water coolers and vending
machines. The Company sells compressors to original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) and aftermarket
distributors.

Engine & Power Train Products consist of (i) two- and four-cycle gasoline engines for use in a wide
variety of lawn and garden applications and other consumer and light commercial applications and
(i1) transmissions, transaxles and related parts for use principally in lawn and garden tractors and riding lawn
mowers. The Company sells engine and power train products to OEMs and aftermarket distributors.

Pump Products include (i) small submersible pumps used in a wide variety of industrial, commercial,
and consumer applications and (ii) heavy-duty centrifugal type pumps used in the construction, mining,
agricultural, marine, and transportation industries. The Company sells pump products to distributors, mass
merchants and OEMs.

Electrical Component Products include AC and DC electric motors, blowers, gear motors and linear
actuators for a broad and diverse set of applications across many industries. These markets include
automotive, appliance and consumer durables, heating and cooling equipment, computer and office equip-
ment, industrial machinery, commercial equipment, acrospace and healthcare to name a few.

In addition to motors, the Company also manufacturers other electrical components that work in tandem
with electric and electronic devices to manage and regulate their operation and provide connectivity and other
motor parts for sale to external customers. These products include overloads, relays, thermostats, terminals,
laminations and electronic circuit boards. Recently, the Company began customer testing of an uninterruptible
alternative power system for use in commercial structures, such as cell towers, that require reliable backup
electrical power sources.

Foreign Operations and Sales

In recent years, international sales and manufacturing have become increasingly important to the
Company’s business as a whole. In 2002, sales to customers outside the United States represented
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approximately 48% of total consolidated net sales. In addition to North American operations, compressor
products are produced in Brazil, France and India, while engines are produced in Italy and the Czech
Repubilic.

Products sold outside the United States are manufactured at both U.S. and foreign plants. Tecumseh do
Brasil, Ltda. (“Tecumseh do Brasil”), the Company’s Brazilian compressor subsidiary, sells its products
principally in Latin America, North America, Europe and the Middle East. The Brazilian operation represents
a significant portion of the Company’s compressor business. In 2002, total sales generated by Tecumseh do
Brasil amounted to 28% of total Compressor Products segment sales. Brazilian operating income amounted to
approximately 67% of total Compressor Products segment operating income and approximately 59% of
consolidated operating income for the year, exclusive of nonrecurring items.

The Company’s European compressor subsidiary, Tecumseh Europe, S.A. (“Tecumseh Europe”),
generally sells the compressor products it manufactures in Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Latin America
and Asia. The Company also has two manufacturing facilities in India that produce air conditioning and
refrigeration compressors primarily for the Indian appliance market.

In the engine business, the Company has two principal markets. The North American market is primarily
served by the Company’s U.S. manufacturing operations. The European market is served by the manufactur-
ing operations of the Company’s [talian engine subsidiary, Tecumseh Europa, S.p.A. (“Tecumseh Europa”),
and to a lesser extent, by U.S. export sales. Tecumseh Europa produces light-weight engines primarily for
lawn and garden applications along with some utility applications. In addition, the engine business has a
manufacturing facility in the Czech Republic that produces primarily larger engines and engine components
for export to the U.S. market. In the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company purchased a facility in Curitiba,
Brazil. This facility, when operational in 2003, will also produce engine components and sub-assemblies for
export to the U.S. and European markets.

FASCOQO’s primary market is North America with some sales in Asia. Manufacturing operations outside
the United States are located in Mexico, Thailand and Australia. Mexican operations are used to supply the
North American market, while the Australian operations supply Asia. The operations in Thailand supply both
of FASCQC’s markets.

The Company’s dependence on sales in foreign countries entails certain commercial and political risks,
including currency fluctuations, unstable economic or political conditions in some areas and the possibility of
U.S. government embargoes on sales to certain countries. The Company’s foreign manufacturing operations
are subject to other risks as well, including governmental expropriation, governmental regulations which may
be disadvantageous to businesses owned by foreign nationals and instabilities in the workforce due to changing
political and social conditions. These considerations are especially significant in the context of the Company’s
Brazilian operations given the importance of Tecumseh do Brasil’s performance to the Company’s total
operating results.

Industry Segment and Geographic Location Infermation

The results of operations and other financial information by industry segment and geographic location
(including the footnotes thereto) for each of the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 appear under
the caption “Business Segment Data” in Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements which appear in
Part 11, Item 8, of this report, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”. This information is presented
on a basis consistent with operations over the respective periods and does not include the segment identified as
“Electrical Components”, which was created on December 30, 2002 in conjunction with the acquisition of
FASCO. Future reporting periods will include this segment and prior period information restated to conform
to the Company’s new segment configuration. The information contained under the caption “Business
Segment Data”, along with the written discussion in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations™ under the caption “Results of Operations” in this report should be read
in conjunction with the business segment information presented in the following sections entitled: Compressor
Products, Engine & Power Train Products and Pump Products. The section, entitled “FASCO Motors
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Group”, provides information regarding those operations which were acquired on December 30, 2002, and
therefore do not affect the results of the Company for the historical periods presented.

Compressor Products

The Compressor Products segment is the Company’s largest business segment. A compressor is a device
that compresses a refrigerant gas. When the gas is later permitted to expand, it absorbs and transfers heat,
producing a cooling effect, which forms the basis for a wide variety of refrigeration and air conditioning
products. All of the compressors produced by the Company are hermetically sealed. The Company’s current
compressor line consists primarily of reciprocating and rotary designs with a very limited number of scroll
models.

Product Line

The Company manufactures and sells a variety of traditional, reciprocating piston compressors suitable
for use in all four compressor market segments. This line of compressors range in size from approximately 12
horsepower models used in unitary air conditioning applications to small fractional horsepower models used in
refrigerators, dehumidifiers and vending machines.

Rotary compressors ranging from 5,000 te 18,000 BTU/hour are produced by the Company for room and
mobile air conditioning applications. These compressors generally provide increased operating efficiency, lower
equipment space requirements, and reduced sound levels when compared to reciprocating piston models.

Scroll compressors generally offer improved energy efficiency and reduced noise levels compared to
traditional reciprocating designs and are generally preferred by OEMs for certain products, including unitary
central air conditioning systems and certain commercial applications. The Company has a scroll compressor
product line for the unitary air conditioning market that is sold in very limited quantities.

Manufacturing Operations

Compressor Products manufactured in the Company’s U.S. plants accounted for approximately 41% of
2002 compressor sales. The balance was produced at the Company’s manufacturing facilities in Brazil, France
and India. The compressor operations are substantially vertically integrated, and the Company manufactures a
significant portion of its component needs internally, including electric motors, metal stampings and glass
terminals. Raw materials are purchased from a variety of non-affiliated suppliers. The Company utilizes
multiple sources of supply and the required raw materials and components are generally available in sufficient
quantities.

Sales and Marketing

The Company markets its U.S., Brazilian and Indian built compressors under the “Tecumseh” brand and
French built compressors under the “Tecumseh Europe-L’Unité Hermétique” brand. The Company sells its
compressor products in North America primarily through its own sales staff. Major OEM customers are
assigned to sales staff on an account basis. Other customers (smaller commercial OEMs) are served by sales
personnel assigned to specified geographic regions, and sales to aftermarket customers are made through
independent sales representatives. The Company’s U.S., Brazilian, French and Indian operations each have
their own sales staff. In certain foreign markets, the Company also uses local independent sales representatives
and distributors.

Substantially all of the Company’s sales of compressor products for room air conditioners and for
household refrigerators and freezers are to original equipment manufacturers. Sales of compressor products for
unitary central air conditioning systems and commercial applications include substantial sales to both OEM
and distributor customers.

The Company has over 1,200 customers for compressor products, the most significant of which are
commercial customers. In 2002, the two largest customers for compressor products accounted for 7.6% and
5.2%, respectively, of total segment sales, or 4.5% and 3.0%, respectively, of consolidated net sales. Loss of
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either of these customers could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations of the Compressor
Products segment and, at least temporarily, on the Company’s business as a whole. Generally, the Company
does not enter into long-term contracts with its customers in this segment. However, the Company does
pursue long-term agreements with selected major customers where a business relationship has existed for a
substantial period of time.

In 2002, approximately 31% of the Compressor Products produced by the Company in its U.S. plants
were exported to foreign countries. The Company exports to over 60 countries. Over 90% of these exported
products were sold in the Far and Middle East.

Competition

All of the compressor market segments in which the Company operates are highly competitive.
Participants compete on the basis of delivery, efficiency, noise level, price and reliability. The Company
competes not only with other independent compressor producers but also with manufacturers of end products
that have internal compressor manufacturing operations.

North Amervican Operations

The domestic unitary air conditioning compressor market consists of OEMs and a significant compressor
aftermarket. The Company competes primarily with two U.S. manufacturers, Copeland Corporation, a
subsidiary of Emerson Electric, Inc., and Bristol Compressors, Inc., a subsidiary of York International
Corporation. Copeland Corporation enjoys a larger share of the domestic unitary air conditioning compressor
business than either Bristol Compressors, Inc. or the Company.

Over the last several years there has been an industry trend toward the use of scroll compressors in the
high efficiency segment of the unitary air conditioning market. Copeland Corporation and other compressor
manufacturers have had scroll compressors as part of their product offerings for some time. Along with its own
manufacturing capabilities, Copeland Corporation is also a member of the Alliance Scroll manufacturing joint
venture with two major U.S. central air conditioning manufacturers, American Standard’s Trane air
conditioning division and Lennox International, Inc. Carrier Corporation, a subsidiary of United Technologies
and a major original equipment manufacturer, has a joint venture to produce scroll compressors with Bristol
Compressors, Inc.

As discussed in the product line section, the Company offers only a limited line of scroll compressor
models for sale through the Company’s Cool Products aftermarket division. The Company continues to
believe that the scroll compressor is important to maintaining a position in the unitary air conditioning and
commercial refrigeration markets and it continues to pursue development of the scroll compressor in a manner
that limits risk to the Company.

In the domestic room air conditioning compressor market, the Company competes primarily with foreign
companies, as a majority of room air conditioners are now manufactured outside the United States. The
Company also competes to a lesser extent with U.S. manufacturers. Competitors include Matsushita Electric
Industrial Corporation, Rotorex, Inc., Sanyo Electric Trading Company, L.G. Electronics, Inc., Mitsubishi,
Daikin, and others. The Company has increasingly struggled with price competition from foreign companies
during the last two years. Downward pressure on prices, particularly in the room air conditioning market, has
continued due to world over-capacity and a market flooded by cheap Asian products both in North America
and in Europe.

In the domestic markets for water coolers, dehumidifiers, vending machines, refrigerated display cases
and other commercial refrigeration products, the Company competes primarily with compressor manufactur-
ers from the Far East, Europe and South America, and to a lesser extent, the United States. Competitors
include Matsushita Electric Industrial Corporation, Danfoss, Inc., Embraco, S.A., Copeland Corporation and
others.

The household refrigerator and freezer market is vertically integrated with many white good producers
manufacturing a substantial portion of their compressor needs. The Company’s competitors include AB
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Electrolux, Matsushita Electric Industrial Corporation, Embraco, S.A., Danfoss, Inc., and others. The
Company has an extensive product line in this market which includes both reciprocating piston and rotary type
compressors with a reputation for reliable field performance.

In light of the domestic competition and world over-capacity situation, the Company has continued to
take actions begun in late 1999 to consolidate North American compressor manufacturing capacity. The
objective is to reduce the cost structure of the Company’s domestically produced compressor models and
improve the quality performance, thereby offering a more competitively priced product to our customers. In
the first quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a charge of $4.5 million in connection with the relocation of
rotary compressor lines from the U.S. to Brazil. The charge represents primarily the write down of certain
unusable equipment.

Eurcpean Operations

Tecumseh Europe sells the major portion of its manufactured compressors in Western Europe, and
competes in those markets primarily with several large European manufacturers, some of which are captive
suppliers, and to a lesser but increasing extent, with manufacturers from the Far East and Brazil. Competitors
include AB Electrolux, Embraco, S.A., Danfoss, Inc. and others. Tecumseh Europe produces compressors
primarily for the commercial refrigeration market.

Brazilian Operations

Tecumseh do Brasil competes directly with Embraco, S.A. in Brazil and with Embraco and several other
foreign manufacturers in Latin America. Historically, Tecumseh do Brasil has sold the major portion of its
manufactured compressors in Latin America, North America, Europe and the Middle East. Significant
devaluations of the Brazilian Real in 1999 and 2002 have set the stage for Tecumseh do Brasil to better
compete in foreign markets, resulting in approximately 66%, 64% and 61% of its production being exported in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Indian Operations

Tecumseh Products India, I.td. has two compressor manufacturing facilities in India that sell to regional
markets. Major competitors include the Indian manufacturers Kirloskar Copeland Ltd., Carrier Aircon Ltd.,
Godrej, Videocon, BPL and others. Tecumseh Products India, Ltd. produces compressors for the air
conditioning and refrigerator and freezer markets. In 2002, approximately 31% of its sales were made to a
single customer, and the loss of this customer would have a significant impact on the results of operations of
this facility, and to a lesser extent, on the consolidated results of the Company as a whole.

Research

Ongoing research and development is another method in which the Company strives to meet its
competition. The ability to successfully bring new products to market in a timely manner has rapidly become a
critical factor in competing in the compressor products business as a result of, among other things, the
imposition of energy efficiency standards and environmental regulations including those related to refrigerant
requirements. These factors are discussed below.

Regulatory Requirements

Chlorofluorocarbon compounds (“CFCs”), the primary refrigerants used in household refrigerators and
freezers and in commercial refrigeration equipment, have been identified as one of the leading factors causing
depletion of the earth’s ozone layer. Under a 1992 international agreement, production of CFCs in developed
countries was phased out January 1, 1996. The Company began producing compressors using alternative
refrigerants (approved by the U.S. government) for the commercial refrigeration market in late 1992 and for
the refrigerator and freezer market during 1994. The Company believes that its rapid development of products
using non-CFC refrigerant technology has improved its competitive position in these markets.
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Hydrochlorofluorocarbon compounds (“HCFCs”) are used as a refrigerant in air conditioning systems.
Under a 1992 international agreement, HCFCs will be banned from new equipment beginning in 2010. Some
European countries began HCFC phase-outs as early as 1998, and some have fully eliminated the use of
HCFCs as early as 2002, Within the last several years, the Company has approved and released a number of
compressor models utilizing U.S. government approved hydrofluorocarbons, (“HFC”) refrigerants, which are
considered more environmentally safe than the preceding refrigeration compounds. HFCs are also currently
under global scrutiny and subject to possible future restrictions.

In the last few years, there has been an even greater political and consumer movement, particularly from
northern European countries, toward the use of hydrocarbons (“HCs”) as alternative refrigerants, moving
further away from the use of chlorine (which depletes the ozone layer of our atmosphere) and the use of
fluorine (which contributes to the “green-house” effect). Both Tecumseh do Brasil and Tecumseh Europe
have compressor products available for sale that utilize hydrocarbon refrigerants. Hydrocarbons are flammable
compounds and have not been approved by the U.S. government for air conditioning or household refrigerator
and freezer applications. It is not presently possible to estimate the level of expenditures that will be required
to meet future industry requirements or the effect on the Company’s competitive position.

The U.S. National Appliance Energy Conservation Act of 1987 (the “NAECA”) requires specified
energy efficiency ratings on room air conditioners and household refrigerator/freezers. Proposed energy
efficiency requirements for unitary air conditioners were published in the U.S. in January 2001 to be effective
in the year 2006. The European manufacturing community has issued energy efficiency directives that specify
the acceptable level of energy consumption for refrigerators and freezers. These efficiency ratings apply to the
overall performance of the specific appliance, of which the compressor is one component. The Company has
ongoing projects aimed at improving the efficiency levels of its compressor products and plans to have products
available to meet known energy efficiency requirements as determined by our customers. Some of the
Company’s compressor products already meet or exceed the new energy efficiency standards. It is not
presently possible to estimate the level of expenditures that will be required to meet the new standards or the
effect on the Company’s competitive position.

Engine & Power Train Products

Small gasoline engines account for a majority of the net sales of the Company’s Engine & Power Train
Products segment. These are used in a broad variety of consumer products, including lawn mowers (both
riding and walk-behind types), snow throwers, small lawn and garden tractors, small power devices used in
outdoor chore products, generators, pumps and certain self-propelled vehicles. The Company manufactures
gasoline engines, both two- and four-cycle types, with aluminum die cast bodies ranging in size from 2 through
22 horsepower and with cast iron bodies ranging in size from 12 through 18 horsepower. The Company’s
power train products include transmissions, transaxles and related parts used principally in lawn and garden
tractors and riding lawn mowers.

Manufacturing Operations

The Company manufactures engines and related components in its five plants in the United States, one
plant in Italy and one plant in the Czech Republic. In the fourth quarter of 2002 the Company purchased a
vacant facility in Curitiba, Brazil for the manufacture of engine and power train components and sub-
assemblies. This plant is expected to be operational in the first half of 2003. All of the Company’s power train
products are currently manufactured in one facility in the United States. Operations of the Company in this
segment are partially vertically integrated as the Company produces most of its plastic parts and carburetors,
as well as a substantial portion of the aluminum die-castings used in its engines and power train products.

Significant declines in unit volumes since 1999 have left the Engine & Power Train operations with over-
capacity. During the fourth quarter of 2002 and 2001 the Company recognized nonrecurring charges of
$4.1 million and $6.1 million, respectively related primarily to the transfer of certain engine and component
part production from domestic facilities to the Company’s facilities in the Czech Republic.
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Sales and Marketing

The Company markets its Engine & Power Train Products worldwide under the “Tecumseh” and
“Peerless” brands. A substantial portion of the Company’s engines are incorporated into lawn and garden and
other consumer products under brand labels owned by OEMs and sold through “do it yourself” home centers,
mass merchandisers, department stores and lawn and garden specialty retailers.

The majority of the Company’s Engine & Power Train Products are sold directly to OEMs. The
Company also sells engines and parts to its authorized dealers and distributors, who service its engines both in
the United States and abroad. Marketing of Engine & Power Train Products is handled by the Company’s own
sales staff and by local sales representatives in certain foreign countries. North America and Europe are the
principal markets for lawn and garden products.

Sales in this segment can be significantly affected by environmental factors affecting the respective selling
seasons for the various types of equipment. For example, snow thrower sales, and therefore the demand for the
Company’s applicable engine, show a strong correlation with the amount of snowfall received. Similarly, the
frequency of weather-related and other interruptions to power supplies or the perceived threat of interruptions,
affect the demand for generators. Factors such as these are largely unpredictable, yet greatly influence the
year-to-year demand for engine products.

In 2002, the three largest (direct ship) customers for Engine & Power Train Products accounted for
20.9%, 19.4% and 13.6%, respectively, of segment sales, or 6.7%, 6.2% and 4.4%, respectively, of consolidated
net sales. Some of the engines provided to these customers are incorporated into end consumer products that
are sold by Sears. Total sales to Sears and Sears affiliated suppliers in 2002 and 2001 amounted to 16.8% and
23.5%, respectively, of segment sales, or 5.4% and 8.1%, respectively, of consolidated net sales. The year over
year reduction in the percentage of sales to Sears and Sears affiliated suppliers is due to a substantial decline in
participation in their walk behind lawn mower segment. Loss of any of this segment’s three largest customers,
and/or the loss of Sears as a retail distributor, would have a material adverse effect on the results of operations
of this segment and, at least temporarily, on the Company and its business as a whole.

Competition

The Company believes it is the largest consolidated producer of engines and transmissions for the outdoor
power equipment industry. However, it remains the second largest producer of small gasoline engines for lawn
and garden applications in the world. The largest such producer, with a broader product range, is Briggs &
Stratton Corporation. Other producers of small gasoline engines include Kohler Corporation, Toro Company
and Honda Corporation, among others.

Competition in the Company’s engine business is based principally on price, service, product performance
and features and brand recognition. As mass merchandisers have captured a larger portion of the sales of lawn
and garden products in the United States, price competition and the ability to offer customized styling and
feature choices have become even more important. The Company believes that it competes effectively on
these bases.

Environmental Standards

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA™) has in place regulations for the engines produced
by the company. The Company produces competitively priced engines that comply with current EPA and
California Air Resources Board (“CARB”) Standards. Phase-in of the rules for various engine models is in
progress and will continue through the 2008 model year. It is not possible at this time to determine the related
costs of compliance, nor the impact on the competitive position of the Company. The State of California
enforces the CARB Tier 1I Emission Standards. A broad range of the Company’s engines has been certified to
comply with these emissions standards.

The European Community has implemented noise standards for some categories of engine powered
equipment. These standards take effect in two stages: Stage [ began January 3, 2002 and Stage 11 is scheduled
to take affect January 3, 2006. They regulate the sound level of the complete product delivered to the end user.
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The Company currently supplies engines to and works with equipment manufacturers to assure that their
products comply with these standards. The European community has also adopted exhaust emission
regulations that will affect the engines sold into the European community. These regulations will be
implemented in stages with the initial stage taking affect in August 2004. These regulations are similar to the
U.S. EPA regulations and as a result will not impact the competitive position of the Company.

Pump Products

The Company manufactures and sells submersible pumps, centrifugal pumps and related products
through its two subsidiaries, Little Giant Pump Company (“Little Giant”) and MP Pumps, Inc. (“MP
Pumps”). Little Giant pumps are used in a broad range of commercial, industrial, and consumer products,
including (1) heating, (2) ventilating and cooling, (3) parts washers, (4) machine tools, (5) evaporative
coolers, (6) sump pumps, (7) statuary fountains, (8) water gardening and (9) waste management. Little
Giant’s products are sold worldwide to OEMs, distributors and mass retailers. Sales and marketing is executed
through Little Giant’s own sales management and through manufacturers’ representatives under the “Little
Giant” and “Interon” brand names.

The pump industry is highly fragmented, with many relatively small producers competing for sales. Little
Giant has been particularly successful in competing in the pump industry by targeting specific market niches
where opportunities exist and then designing and marketing corresponding products. In the last three years,
the “Little Giant” brand name has become more associated with consumer products due to the success of the
subsidiary’s water-gardening product line. However, the focus of this pump manufacturer has long been in the
commercial and industrial market channels of the pump industry, and Little Giant is pursuing these markets
through the development of complete pump systems utilizing larger pump models.

MP Pumps manufactures and sells a variety of centrifugal pumps ranging in capacity from 15 to 1,500
gallons per minute, that are used in the agricultural, marine and transportation industries, and in a variety of
commercial and industrial applications and end products. MP Pumps sells both to OEMs, which incorporate
its pumps into their end products, and through an extensive network of market segmented distributors located
throughout the United States. The distributors within the network both engineer and sell pump products to
end users and small OEMs. A limited number of pumps are also sold to departments and agencies of the U.S.
government. MP Pumps markets both custom and standard catalog product through its own sales staff. Pumps
sold through distribution channels are branded under the “MP” and “Flomax” registered trade names. Some
pumps are privately labeled for specific customer use.

FASCO Motors Group

On December 30, 2002 the Company acquired the stock of the companies that comprise the FASCO
Motors Group from Invensys plc for approximately $411 million. Headquartered in Eaton Rapids, Michigan,
FASCO is a leading manufacturer in the U.S. fractional horsepower (“FHP”) motors industry. This industry
is large and diverse with an estimated size of $10.4 billion. The market is generally stable as many different
manufacturers use FHP motors as components of their applications. The pervasiveness of motors has been
due, in part, to rising disposable income, spending on appliance “necessities” for remodeling and new
construction, increased heating efficiency standards, increased use of power options in vehicles, growth in
applications for motors in healthcare, leisure, exercise and home maintenance products, a wide variety of
industrial applications, decreases in motor size and improvements in motor efficiency.

Product Line

FASCO manufacturers AC motors, DC motors, blowers, gearmotors and linear actuators. Its products
are used in a wide variety of applications in markets that include automotive, appliance and consumer
durables, heating and cooling equipment, computer and office equipment, industrial machinery, commercial
equipment, aerospace and healthcare to name a few, Tecumseh believes that FASCO has products to serve
approximately 23% of the market, with its primary focus on high value-added products and services.
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Manufacturing

At the time of purchase, FASCO operated 13 manufacturing locations, 2 of which were in the process of
being closed and were not purchased by Tecumseh from Invensys. The remaining 11 locations, most of which
are owned, are located as follows: 6 in the United States, 2 in Mexico and 1 each in Canada, Thailand and
Australia. FASCO’s facilities are to a large extent vertically integrated, however, some component parts are
purchased from outside suppliers. FASCO utilizes multiple sources of supply and the required raw materials,
including copper wire, steel, aluminum, zinc and components are generally available in sufficient quantities.

Sales and Marketing

FASCO markets its products principally under the “FASCO” brand. The FASCO brand name is well-
known and nearly a century old. FASCO sells its products primarily through its own direct sales force
supplemented by third party sales representatives in certain markets. Approximately, 90% of FASCO’s sales
are to OEM customers. Sales professionals are assigned to accounts based upon type of account and
geographic region.

FASCO has over 2,500 customers for its products, the largest of which are in the automotive sector.
Historically, the top three customers have accounted for less the 20% of revenues, with the largest customer
accounting for approximately 10% of revenues. Loss of the largest customer could have a material adverse
affect on the results of FASCO. In addition, certain of FASCQO’s customers are competitors of Tecumseh’s
other business segments. Individually, none of these customers exceed 1% of FASCO’s total sales. Generally,
FASCO does not have long-term contracts with its customers, with the exception of select major customers.

Competition

All of the application markets in which FASCO competes are highly competitive. Different competitors
are present within each of the application markets. Key competitors in the automotive market segment include
Daewoo, Bosch and Johnson Electric. Key competitors in residential and commercial market segments
include General Electric, Emerson and A.O. Smith. In the linear actuator and gearmotor market segments,
key competitors include Merkle-Koff, Bison and Hubbell. Participants compete on various levels, including
motor design and application, customer service and price. Motor design and application is critical because
OEMs are constantly improving their product lines, which often require new motor specifications. In general,
end-use markets today are looking for smaller, more efficient, faster, cooler-operating and lighter motors. In
addition to competing with other independent motor manufactures, FASCO also competes to a lesser extent
with manufacturers of end products that have internal motor manufacturing operations.

Backlog and Seasomal Variations

Most of the Company’s production is against short-term purchase orders, and backlog is not significant.

Both Compressor Products and Engine & Power Train Products are subject to some seasonal variation.
Generally, the Company’s sales and operating profit are stronger in the first two quarters of the year than in the
last two quarters.

Patents, Licenses and Trademarks

The Company owns a substantial number of patents, licenses and trademarks and deems them to be
important to certain lines of its business; however, the success of the Company’s overall business is not
considered primarily dependent on them. In the conduct of its business, the Company owns and uses a variety
of registered trademarks, the most familiar of which is the trademark consisting of the word “Tecumseh” in
combination with a Native American Indian head symbol.

Research and Development

The Company must continually develop new and improved products in order to compete effectively and
to meet evolving regulatory standards in all of its major lines of business. The Company spent approximately
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$30.8, $27.6 and $28.1 million during 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively, on research activities relating to the
development of new products and the development of improvements to existing products. None of this
research was customer sponsored.

Employees

On December 31, 2002, the Company employed approximately 22,000 persons, 55% of whom were
employed in foreign locations. Of this total approximately, 5,200 employees were added on December 30, 2002
with the acquisition of FASCC. Approximately 2,000 of the U.S. employees were represented by labor unions,
with no more than approximately 1,300 persons represented by the same union contract. The majority of
foreign location personnel are represented by national trade unions. The number of the Company’s employees
is subject to some seasonal variation. Excluding the employees added at year end as a result of the FASCO
acquisition, the maximum number of persons employed was approximately 17,200 and the minimum was
16,800. Overall, the Company believes it generally has a good relationship with its employees.

Available Information

We make available, free of charge, on our Internet website (http://www.tecumseh.com) our annual
report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as
Tteasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Kenneth G. Herrick retired as Chairman of the Board of Directors effective February 26, 2003. He was
given the honorary designation of Chairman Emeritus by the Board. Todd W. Herrick has succeeded
Kenneth G. Herrick as Chairman.

The following are the executive officers of the Company.

Period of Service

Name and Age Office or Position Held as an Officer

Todd W. Herrick, 60 ............... Chairman of the Board of Directors, President Since 1974
and Chief Executive Officer(1)

David W. Kay, 54.................. Vice President, Treasurer, and Chief Financial Since 2001
Officer(2)

Michael R. Forman, 56 ............. Vice President and Corporate Director of Since 2001

Human Resources(3)

(1) Last five years of business experience — President and Chief Executive Officer, Tecumseh Products
Company 1986 to 2003. (Employed with Tecumseh Products Company since 1972.)

(2) Last five years of business experience — Corporate Controller, Tecumseh Products Company 1999 to
2001. Corporate Controller, RTT International Metals, Inc. (formerly RMI Titanium Company) 1986 to
1999. (Employed with Tecumseh Products Company since 1999.)

(3) Last five years of business experience — Assistant Director of Corporate Human Resources, Tecumseh
Products Company 1990 to 2001. (Employed with Tecumseh Products Company since 1990.)

Item 2. Properties

The Company’s headquarters are located in Tecumseh, Michigan, approximately 50 miles southwest of
Detroit. At December 31, 2002 the Company had 43 principal properties worldwide occupying approximately
11.0 million square feet with the majority, approximately 9.6 million square feet, devoted to manufacturing.
Seventeen facilities with approximately 5.2 million square feet were located in nine countries outside the
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United States. The following table shows the approximate amount of space devoted to each of the Company’s
three principal business segments and FASCO.

Approximate

Floor Area
Industry Segment in Square Feet
Compressor ProductS . . .ot 6,236,000
Engine & Power Train Products ...... .. ... .. i 2,647,000
Pump Products and Other ... ... 442,000
FASCO Motors GIOUP . . oottt et e e e e 1,568,000

Five domestic facilities, including land, building and certain machinery and equipment were financed and
leased through industrial revenue bonds. All owned and leased properties are suitable, well maintained and
equipped for the purposes for which they are used. The Company considers that its facilities are suitable and
adequate for the operations involved.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company has been named by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) as a potentially
responsible party (“PRP”) in connection with the Sheboygan River and Harbor Superfund Site in Wisconsin.
In May 2000, the EPA issued a Record of Decision (“ROD”) selecting the remedy for the Site. The
Company is one of several named PRP’s in the proposed cleanup action. The EPA has estimated the cost of
cleanup at $40.9 million. The Company believes that the EPA’s remedy, as specified in the ROD, goes well
beyond what is environmentally protective and cost-effective for the site and largely ignores the results of the
multi-million dollar remedial investigation and feasibility study that the Company performed under EPA
oversight. Additionally, the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (“WDNR”), as a Natural Resource
Trustee, is investigating what additional requirements, if any, the state may have beyond those specified under
the ROD.

The EPA has indicated its intent to address the site in two phases, with the plant site and upper river
constituting the first phase and the middle and lower river and harbor being the second phase. The Company
anticipates entering into a Consent Decree concerning the performance of remedial design and remedial action
for the plant site, the upper river and the flood plain soils, deferring for an unspecified period any action
regarding Phase II. As part of these negotiations the Company has agreed to pay an additional $2.1 million in
past response costs to the EPA.

At December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, the Company had accrued $29.2 and $28.7 million,
respectively, for estimated costs associated with the cleanup of this site. The actual cost will be governed by
numerous factors including the requirements of the WDNR, and may be greater or lower than the amount
accrued. These factors include the results of further investigations, the details of the remedial actions required
by the EPA (in consultation with the WDNR), changes in remedial technologies, the extent of any natural
resource damages, and the outcome of any related litigation. Other PRPs may contribute to the costs of any
final remediation, and/or natural resource damage claims, regarding the middle and lower river and harbor
portions of the Site.

The Company, in cooperation with the WDNR, conducted an investigation of soil and groundwater
contamination at the Company’s Grafton, Wisconsin plant. It was determined that contamination from
petroleum and degreasing products used at the plant are contributing to an off-site groundwater plume. The
Company began remediation of soils in 2001 on the east side of the facility. Additional remediation of soils
began in the fall of 2002 in two other areas on the plant site. While the Company has provided for estimated
investigation and on-site remediation costs, the extent and timing of future off-site remediation requirements,
if any, are not presently determinable.

The WDNR requested that the Company join it in a cooperative effort to investigate and clean up PCB
contamination in the watershed of the south branch of the Manitowoc River, downstream of the Company’s
New Holstein, Wisconsin facility. Despite the fact that the WDNR'’s investigation does not establish the
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parties responsible for the PCB contamination, the WDNR has indicated that it believes the Company is a
source and that it expects the Company to participate in the cleanup. The Company has participated in the
first phase of a cooperative cleanup, consisting of joint funding of the removal of soils and sediments in the
source area near its facility. The next phase of the cooperative effort is scheduled to occur in 2003 involving a
stream segment downstream of the source area. The Company has provided for these costs. Although
participation in a cooperative remedial effort after 2003 for the balance of the watershed is under
consideration, it is not possible to reasonably estimate the cost of any such participation at this time.

In addition to the above-mentioned sites, the Company is also currently participating with the EPA and
various state agencies at certain other sites to determine the nature and extent of any remedial action that may
be necessary with regard to such other sites. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had accrued
$36.3 million and $36.1 million, respectively, for environmental remediation, including the amounts noted
above relating to the Sheboygan River and Harbor Superfund Site. As these matters continue toward final
resolution, amounts in excess of those already provided may be necessary to discharge the Company from its
obligations for these sites. Such amounts, depending on their amount and timing, could be material to reported
net income in the particular quarter or period which they are recorded. In addition, the ultimate resolution of
these matters, either individually or in the aggregate, could be material to the consolidated financial
statements.

Various lawsuits and claims, including those involving ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business,
to which the Company is a party, are pending, or have been asserted, against the Company. Although the
outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, and some of them may be disposed of
unfavorably to the Company, management has no reason to believe that their disposition will have a materially
adverse effect on the consolidated financial position or results of operations of the Company.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matter was submitted during the fourth quarter of 2002 to a vote of security holders through the
solicitation of proxies or otherwise.

PART II
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Egquity and Related Stockholder Matters

The Company’s Class A and Class B common stock trades on the Nasdaq Stock Market under the
symbols TECUA and TECUB, respectively. Total shareholders of record as of March 7, 2003 were
approximately 513 for Class A common stock and 506 for Class B common stock. There were no equity
securities sold by the Company during the period covered by this report. The Company has no equity
securities authorized for issuance under compensation plans.

Market Price and Dividend Information

Range of Common Stock Prices and Dividends for 2002

Sales Price

Class A Class B Dﬁgﬁzzr;ds
Quarter Ended High Low High Low Declared
March 31........ ... .. i $56.220  $46.200  $52.000 $43.350 $0.32
June 30 ... .. 57.250 45.000 52.750 41.700 0.32
September 30 ........ ... .. ... 53.520 40.760 49.840 37.250 0.32
December 31 ... ... .. ..ol 49.120 37.820 45.750 35.100 0.32
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Range of Common Stock Prices and Dividends for 2001

Sales Price

Class A Class B Di‘v:ig::ds
Quarter Ended High Low High Low Declared
March3l.... ...t $54.000 $38.750  $50.750  $36.250 $0.32
June 30 ... 53.450 43.500 47.950 40.438 0.32
September 30 ......... ...l 52.990 40.800 47.890 38.820 0.32
December 31 ......... ... . ... . ..... 52.530 41.120 49.600 39.500 0.32
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The following is a summary of certain financial information of the Company.
Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
(Dollars in millions except per share data)
Netsales.......oooiiiiiin i, $1,343.8 $1,398.9 $1,649.9 $1,814.3  $1,750.2
Cost of sales and operating expenses........... 1,141.6 1,207.2 1,411.4 1,507.4 1,492.8
Selling and administrative expenses............ 1174 112.1 118.3 117.6 115.8
Nonrecurring items ............coovveeen. ... 10.3 354 33.5 (5.5) 45.0
Operating income . ... .....ccooviinnnenn... 74.5 442 86.7 194.8 96.6
Interest expense .. .........cooiiiiiin., (5.8) (4.1) (6.7) (7.9) (6.9)
Interest income and other,net ................ 15.1 20.3 27.9 28.1 27.8
Nonrecurring gain ................ooiiiia... — — — 8.6 —
Income before taxes and cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle . . ............ 83.8 60.4 107.9 223.6 117.5
Taxes onincome ..........ccoevvinieenn.... 29.7 17.6 41.8 81.6 433
Income before cumulative effect of accounting
change ......... ... ... . .. i 54.1 42.8 66.1 142.0 74.2
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
goodwill........ ... ... . ... i (3.1) — — — —
Netincome......oooviiiiieiniiiennnnn.. $ 510 $ 428 § 661 § 1420 § 742
Basic and diluted earnings per share from
continuing operations . ..................... $ 293 $ 230 $ 344 $ 700 $ 347
Cash dividends declared per share ............. $ 128 $ 128 § 128 §$§ 122 $ 1.20
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
(in thousands) ............... ... iiiun.. 18,480 18,607 19,218 20,277 21,366
Cash and cash equivalents ................... $ 3331 $ 3176 $ 2682 $ 2705 $ 2777
Working capital ......... ... . L 503.7 605.7 602.4 618.6 605.9
Net property, plant and equipment ............ 570.5 431.9 444.7 477.4 508.9
Total @ssets . .. ..ot 2,063.0 1,519.8 1,553.1 1,553.3 1,556.2
Long-term debt ................ ... .. ot 298.2 13.7 14.2 15.6 17.2
Stockholders’ equity........ ... ... oo 978.9 977.7 995.4 1,014.2 995.7
Capital expenditures ................c....... 73.9 65.4 64.0 73.0 64.4
Depreciation and amortization ................ 65.1 72.0 71.2 72.4 74.6
Cost of common shares repurchased ........... — 18.1 39.6 57.7 45.0
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Nonrecurring items:

2002 net income included $10.3 million ($6.6 million net of tax or $0.36 per share) in nonrecurring
charges. Of this amount, the Engine & Power Train business had a charge of $5.8 million ($3.7 million net of
tax or $0.20 per share) which included $4.1 million for costs, mostly write-downs of fixed assets, associated
with the relocation of engine component manufacturing, and the discontinuation of production activities at its
Grafton, Wisconsin facility and $1.7 million for additional environmental clean up costs, primarily additional
past response costs levied by the EPA for its Sheboygan, Wisconsin facility. Additionally, the Compressor
business had a charge of $4.5 million ($2.8 million net of tax or $0.15 per share) for costs related to the
relocation of additional rotary compressor lines from the U.S. to Brazil, primarily the write-off of certain
unusable equipment.

2001 net income included $29.3 million ($18.9 million net of tax) related to the cost of an early
retirement incentive program and an asset impairment charge of $6.1 million ($3.9 million net of tax) for
unusable equipment due to the transfer of certain engine and component part production from domestic
facilities to the Company’s facilities in the Czech Republic.

During 2000 the Company recorded a $33.5 million charge ($23.3 million net of tax) related to the
realignment of its North American and Indian compressor manufacturing operations.

The 1999 results included credit of $14.1 million ($9.0 million net of tax) comprised of a $4.6 million
gain on the curtailment of employee benefit plans at a closed plant, a $4.0 million gain on an insurance
settlement, and an $8.6 million gain from currency hedging at the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary. These
gains were partially offset by charges for plant closing and environmental costs totaling $3.1 million.

During 1998, the Company recorded a $45 million charge ($28.8 million net of tax) for asset impairment.

Btem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Cautionary Statements Relating To Ferward Leoking Statements

The following report should be read in connection with the information contained in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

This discussion contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act and are subject to the safe harbor provisions created by that Act. In addition, forward-
looking statements may be made orally in the future by or on behalf of the Company. Forward-looking
statements can be identified by the use of terms such as “expects”, “should”, “may”, “believes”, “antici-
pates”, “will”, and other future tense and forward-looking terminology, or by the fact that they appear under

the caption “outlook”.

Readers are cautioned that actual results may differ materially from those projected as a result of certain
risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, i} changes in business conditions and the economy in
general in both foreign and domestic markets; ii) the effect of terrorist activity and armed conflict; iii) weather
conditions affecting demand for air conditioners, lawn and garden products and snow throwers; iv) the extent
to which the decline in demand for lawn and garden and utility engines will continue, and the success of the
Company’s ongoing effort to bring costs in line with projected production levels and product mix; v) financial
market changes, including fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates; vi) economic
trend factors such as housing starts; vii) emerging governmental regulations; viii) availability of materials;
ix) actions of competitors; x} the ultimate cost of resolving environmental matters; xi) the Company’s ability
to profitably develop, manufacture and seil both new and existing products; xii) the extent of any business
disruption that may result from the restructuring and realignment of the Company’s manufacturing operations,
the ultimate cost of those initiatives and the amount of savings actually realized; xiii) the integration of
FASCO into the Company and the issuance of debt in connection with the FASCO acquisition; and
xiv) potential political and economic adversities that could adversely affect anticipated sales and production in
Brazil. These forward-looking statements are made only as of the date hereof, and the Company undertakes no
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obligation to update or revise the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
gvents or otherwise.

Cverview

Tecumseh Products Company is a full line, independent global manufacturer of hermetic compressors for
air conditioning and refrigeration products, gasoline engines and power train components for lawn and garden
applications, and pumps. In addition, as of December 30, 2002, due to the acquisition of FASCO, the
Company also manufactures fractional horsepower electric motors and related products for a broad range of
residential and commercial applications. The Company’s products are sold in countries all around the world.

The 2002 statement of income does not include any of FASCGO’s operations, nor does the discussion and
analysis of results of operations set forth below. For the reporting periods presented products are grouped into
three principal industry segments: Compressor Products, Engine & Power Train Products, and Pump
Products. In future periods the Company will be including the results of FASCO and certain other operations
in a new Electrical Components segment.

Consolidated net income for 2002 amounted to $51.0 million or $2.76 per share, compared to
$42.8 million or $2.30 per share in the same period of 2001. Included in the full year 2002 reported results
were several one-time items, such as nonrecurring charges of $10.3 million ($6.6 million net of tax or $0.36
per share), and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting for goodwill ($3.1 million net of tax or $0.17
per share) related to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets”. On a pro forma basis (excluding these one-time items), full year results would have
been $60.7 million or $3.28 per share.

Full year 2001 results also included several one-time items, such as nonrecurring charges of $35.4 million
($22.8 million net of tax or $1.23 per share), a $5.2 million ($0.28 per share) tax credit resulting from a
refund of prior years’ federal income taxes, and $2.0 million net of tax ($0.11 per share) for interest income
associated with the tax credit. For comparative purposes, pro forma results for the 2001 full year (excluding
these one-time items) would have been $58.4 million or $3.14 per share.

The improvement in pro forma results for the full year was attributable to better results from the
Compressor and Pumps Groups, mostly offset by a substantial decline in profitability at the Engine & Power
Train Group.

Consolidated net sales for the full year ended December 31, 2002 amounted to $1,343.8 million, a
decrease of 3.9%, compared to sales of $1,398.9 million for the comparable period in 2001. Excluding the
effects of foreign currency translation on sales, the lower 2002 sales were primarily attributable to the Engine
& Power Train Group.

Results of Operations
Compressor Products
2002 vs. 2001

Sales for the year ended December 31, 2002 amounted to $790.9 million compared to $804.6 miliion in
2001. Excluding the $8.5 million reduction in sales resulting from currency translation, full year sales declined
less than 1%. Increases in sales of compressors used in household refrigeration and commercial applications
nearly offset losses of share in the unitary and room air conditioning markets. Sales of compressors
manufactured in North America were down 19.3% as productive capacities for the residential refrigeration and
room air conditioning markets were moved to Brazil and India where favorable cost structures enable the
Company to more effectively compete. Correspondingly, sales of compressors manufactured in Brazil and
India increased 35.4% over prior year levels.

Compressor Group operating income, exclusive of non-recurring charges, for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001 amounted to $77.5 million and $54.3 million, respectively. The improvement in
operating margins was attributable to greater coverage of fixed costs, the positive effects of restructuring
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actions implemented over the last 18 months, and the favorable effects from devaluation of the Brazilian Real.
This improvement in operating margins was partially offset by declining margins on high-volume, commodity-
type compressors and accelerated spending on new products. The Company’s Brazilian operations contributed
approximately 67% of the compressor business’s operating profit in 2002, compared to 77% in 2001. While
Brazilian operation profits improved year over year, the decline in the overall percentage was a result of
improved profitability in North America where prior restructuring actions reduced fixed costs. Indian
operations were also profitable for the full year 2002 compared to a loss in 2001.

2001 vs. 2000

Annual Compressor Group sales declined approximately 13% to $804.6 million in 2001 compared to
$919.8 million in 2000. While sales declines generally occurred throughout the Company’s global operations
reflective of the slower worldwide economy, the majority of the decline was attributable to the continuing sea-
change in the North American room air conditioning market. U.S.-based manufacturers of room air
conditioners continued to shift the manufacture of completed units to Asia where inexpensive locally produced
compressors were readily available. As a result, the Company lost market share in the room air conditioning
market which continued to erode the volume of North American-based production. Brazilian sales also
declined by approximately 14% reflecting weakness in the local economy and the effects of currency
translations.

Compressor Group operating income, exclusive of nonrecurring items, was $54.3 million in 2001
compared to $66.5 million in 2000. Operating margins were adversely impacted by a number of factors
including lower overall selling prices, reduced fixed cost coverage as a result of lower production volumes and
manufacturing inefficiencies. The Company’s Brazilian operations continued to be a significant component of
worldwide compressor operations. Operating margins in 2001 were consistent with 2000 margins, therefore,
increasing the Brazilian operations overall portion of Compressor Group operating profit from 66% in 2000 to
77% in 2001. The Indian operations significantly reduced their operating losses from 2000 levels when margins
were adversely impacted by a lengthy work stoppage and start-up costs associated with a new manufacturing
plant.

Engine & Power Train Products
2002 vs. 2001

Engine & Power Train sales and operating income declined for the third consecutive year. Sales for the
year ended December 31, 2002 amounted to $432.3 million compared to $480.9 million in 2001. Operating
income, exclusive of nonrecurring items, for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $1.4 million compared to
$20.0 million in 2001. For the full year 2002, domestic engine unit volume decreased 8% over the prior year,
including a 36% decline in engines for snow throwers. 2001 was a record year for snow thrower engine sales as
a result of low inventories at retail at the beginning of that season. However, low snowfall in the winter of 2002
left above average inventories at retail at the end of the 2002 season and as a result, sales of engines for snow
throwers was below average for the calendar year as fewer were required for the winter of 2003. Declines in
volume, less profitable mix and declining contribution margins were responsible for the substantial deteriora-
tion in full year profitability.

2001 vs. 2000

The Engine & Power Train Group’s sales and operating income declined for the second straight year with
2001 results significantly below those for 2000. Sales declined from $612.8 million in 2000 to $480.9 million in
2001 reflecting a significant reduction in both engine and transmission sales in the lawn and garden segment,
as well as various utility applications, such as portable power generators. While sales of engines used for snow
throwers was one of the best seasons in the group’s history, they were not enough to offset the demand in other
applications. While the sales declines were reflective of the overall economic condition, some portion of the
decline was attributable to the Company’s declining participation in the walk behind mower segment.
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As a result of the approximate 22% decline in sales, operating income of $20.0 million in 2001 was
dramatically lower than the $46.8 million posted in 2000. These amounts were exclusive of a nonrecurring
charge recorded in the fourth quarter of 2001 of $6.1 million ($3.9 million net of tax) related primarily to the
transfer of certain engine and component part production from domestic facilities to the Company’s newly
acquired facilities in the Czech Republic.

Pump Products
2002 vs. 2001

Pump business sales for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased 6.3% to $120.6 million compared to
$113.4 million in 2001. Full year operating income amounted to $14.8 million in 2002 compared to
$11.6 million in 2001. Improvements in sales were primarily in pumps used in consumer applications, such as
water gardening where the overall market continued to grow, and condensate pumps used in HVAC
applications where the Company has gained share in that market.

2001 vs. 2000

Pump Products sales in 2001 amounted to $113.4 million compared to $117.3 million in 2000, a slight
decrease of 3%. Operating income in 2001 was $11.6 million compared to $14.7 million in 2000. Decreased
retail sales activity in the water gardening market, resulting from a soft economy combined with slight
decreases in sales for industrial and commercial applications, were primary reasons for the decline in sales and
profits in 2001.

During the third quarter of 2000, the Pump segment entered the residential wastewater collection,
transfer and disposal market by acquiring the assets of Interon Corporation. This market, while currently in its
infancy, is expected to grow rapidly as it provides an economical alternative to conventional gravity wastewater
disposal systems. The acquisition of Interon assets has not had a material impact on reported results of
operations, financial position or cash flows.

Nonrecurring Items

Full year 2002 results were adversely impacted by $10.3 million ($6.6 million net of tax or $0.36 per
share) in nonrecurring charges. During the fourth quarter, a charge of $5.8 million ($3.7 million net of tax or
$0.20 per share) was recorded in the Engine & Power Train business. Included in the charge was $4.1 million
for costs, mostly write-downs of fixed assets, associated with the relocation of engine component manufactur-
ing, and the discontinuation of production activities at its Grafton, Wisconsin facility. Also included in the
charge was $1.7 million for additional environmental clean up costs, primarily additional past response costs
levied by the EPA for its Sheboygan, Wisconsin facility. During the first quarter, a charge of $4.5 million
($2.8 million net of tax or $0.15 per share) was recorded in the Compressor business. This charge was for
costs, primarily the write-off of certain unusable equipment, related to the relocation of additional rotary
compressor lines from the U.S. to Brazil.

The 2001 results were adversely impacted by $35.4 million ($22.8 million net of tax, or $1.23 per share)
in nonrecurring items. During the third quarter of 2001, the Company offered an early retirement incentive
plan to eligible Corporate, North American Compressor Group and Engine & Power Train Group employees.
Two hundred fifty (250) employees, representing approximately 78% of those eligible, or approximately 20%
of the total salaried workforce in the eligible groups, elected early retirement. The cost of providing the
pension and healthcare benefits associated with this plan amounted to $29.3 million ($18.9 million net of tax,
or $1.02 per share) and was recorded as a nonrecurring charge in the third quarter. Ongoing cost savings from
this action were estimated to be in a range of $10 to $12 million annually.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $6.1 million ($3.9 million net of
tax, or $.21 per share) in the Engine & Power Train business related primarily to the transfer of certain engine
and component part production from domestic facilities to the Company’s facilities in the Czech Republic.
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In early 2000, the Company recorded $33.5 million in nonrecurring charges ($23.3 million net of tax, or
$1.21 per share) related to the restructuring and realignment of its domestic and international compressor
manufacturing operations. These amounts included approximately $15.5 million ($12.0 million net of tax) in
severance pay and future benefit costs relating to the announced realignment and manpower reductions in the
Company’s North American and Indian manufacturing operations, $3.2 million ($2.0 million net of tax) in
plant closing and exit costs, and $14.8 million ($9.3 million net of tax) in asset impairment charges for idled,
unusable and/or underutilized equipment.

Interest Income and Income Tax

Interest income and other, net amounted to $15.1 million, $20.3 million, and $27.9 million in 2002, 2001
and 2000, respectively. The decline was the result of declining average interest rates over the period. On a
comparable basis, the Company’s effective tax rates were 35.4%, 35.6% and 38.7% for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The 2001 effective tax rate excludes the effects of a
$5.2 million refund of prior years’ U.S. federal income taxes and a $1.3 million charge from the resolution of
an income tax issue in Italy. The higher effective tax rate in 2000 was due primarily to the inability to
recognize a tax benefit on Indian operating losses.

Acquisitions

On December 30, 2002, the Company acquired the FASCO Motors Group from Invensys Plc for cash of
$396.6 million and the assumption of approximately $14.5 million in debt. FASCO is a leading manufacturer
in the U.S. of fractional horsepower motors. FASCO manufactures AC motors, DC motors, blowers, gear
motors and linear actuators, all of which are used in a wide variety of applications within the HVAC,
automotive, healthcare and appliance industries. The addition of FASCO will allow the Company to reach
new customers and markets and enables the Company to deliver higher valued-added products and complete
customer solutions in all of its business segments.

The acquisition was financed with proceeds from $325 million in new bank borrowings and internal cash
flows, Of the $325 million in new borrowings, $250 million was from a six-month bridge loan and $75 million
was from a new three-year $125 million revolving credit facility. As the bridge loan was replaced on March 3,
2003 with permanent long-term financing, it has been presented as long-term debt in the December 31, 2002
balance sheet.

The purchase price allocation has been prepared on a preliminary basis, and reasonable changes are
expected as additional information becomes available. The following is a summary of the estimated values of
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of the acquisition:

(dollars in millions)

CUITENE @85BS . . ¢ v o ettt et et e e e e e e e $1104
Property, plant and equipment . . ........ ... . 158.2
Intangible assets. .. ...ttt e 55.0
GoodWwill ... 223.2

Total assets acquired .. ... ...ttt $546.8
Current Habilities . .. ... ...t e $ 922
Other liabilities ... ... i 53.7
Long-term debt .. ... .. i 0.6

Total Habilities assumed . ........... ... $146.5

The Company also expended $4.0 million in April 2002 for the acquisition of Manufacturing Data
Systems, Inc., a supplier of Internet-enabled, open-architecture software motion control applications that
increase manufacturing flexibility and enable agile manufacturing for the Computer Numerical Control
(CNC) and General Motion Control (GMC) markets.
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In May 2001, the Company acquired an engine manufacturing facility in the Czech Republic for
$14.9 million. This transaction was accounted for as an asset purchase. The results of operations for this
facility since the acquisition are included in the Company’s statement of consolidated income.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Historically, the Company’s primary source of cash has been net cash provided by operations, however, as
noted above, to partially finance the acquisition of FASCOQO, the Company borrowed $325 million on
December 30, 2002. For the year ended 2002, operating activities generated cash flows of $131.5 million,
compared to $173.0 million in 2001. This decrease resulted primarily from higher working capital require-
ments offset by higher operating results.

Capital expenditures for 2002 amounted to $73.9 million compared to $65.4 million in 2001. Approxi-
mately $41.3 million was spent on capacity enhancements, new product capabilities and routine upgrades in
the Brazilian, French and Indian compressor facilities. Approximately $5.3 million was spent primarily on
facility improvement and upgrades in the North American Compressor Operations. Engine operations capital
expenditures were approximately $23 million, $17.8 million of which were spent on facilities, capacity
expansion and new product capabilities in Brazil and the Czech Republic.

Net cash provided by financing activities amounted to $353.8 million in 2002 compared to a net cash use
of $37.0 million in 2001. Proceeds from borrowings net of debt repayments in 2002 amounted to $377.5 mil-
lion compared to $4.9 million in 2001. The Company paid dividends of $23.7 million and $23.8 million in 2002
and 2001, respectively. During 2001, the Company repurchased 8,500 shares of Class A stock at a cost of
$0.4 million and 392,400 shares of Class B stock at a cost of $17.7 million. There were no stock repurchases
during 2002.

The Company continued to preserve its strong liquid financial position by maintaining a cash and cash
equivalent balance of $333.1 million at December 31, 2002, compared to $317.6 million at the end of 2001.
Working capital was $503.7 million at December 31, 2002 compared to $605.7 million at December 31, 2001.
The ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 2.1 in 2002 and 3.4 in 2001.

Restructuring Actions

As discussed under “Nonrecurring Items”, the Company has undertaken several restructuring actions
during 2000 through 2002 to improve the overall competitiveness of the Company. These actions were
intended to lower the Company’s overall operating costs and to eliminate non-productive capacity.

During the first quarter of 2002 the Company recorded a charge of $4.5 million ($2.8 million net of tax or
$0.15 per share) in the Compressor business related to the relocation of additional rotary compressor lines
from the Tupelo, Mississippi plant to Brazil. The charge was primarily for the write-off of certain equipment
that is not useable in Brazil.

During the fourth quarter of 2002 the Company recorded a charge of $4.1 million ($2.6 million net of tax
or $0.14 per share) in the Engine & Power Train business. The charge related to the relocation of certain
component part manufacturing operations from several facilities in the United States to the Czech Republic
and the discontinuation of production activities at its Grafton, Wisconsin facility. The charge was primarily for
the write-down of excess fixed assets and relocation costs.

During the third quarter of 2001 the Company offered an early retirement incentive plan to eligible
Corporate, North American Compressor Group and Engine & Power Train Group employees. Two hundred
fifty (250) employees, representing approximately 78% of those eligible, or approximately 20% of the total
salaried workforce in the eligible groups, elected early retirement. The cost of providing the pension and
healthcare benefits associated with this plan amounted to $29.3 million ($18.9 million net of tax) and was
recorded as a nonrecurring charge in the third quarter. Ongoing cost savings from this action are estimated to
be in a range of $10 to $12 million annually.
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The fourth quarter 2001 charge of $6.1 million ($3.9 million net of tax, or $.21 per share) in the Engine
& Power Train business related primarily to the transfer of certain engine and component part production from
domestic facilities to the Company’s facilities in the Czech Republic.

In the first quarter of 2000, the Company recorded $33.5 million in nonrecurring charges ($23.3 million
net of tax) related to the restructuring and realignment of its compressor manufacturing operations, both
domestically and internationally. The charges consisted primarily of plant closing costs including employee
termination liabilities, plant decommissioning expenses, the write-off, removal, and storage of obsolete
equipment, a workforce reduction charge at the Indian compressor operations, and an asset impairment
charge. Included in the $33.5 million charge were cash items of approximately $15.8 million that will be paid
from Company funds, and $2.9 million that will be paid from pension plan assets. The balance of $14.8 million
was comprised of non-cash items, principally the write down or impairment of long-lived assets.

Projected Cash Reguirements

Capital expenditures for 2003 are projected to be slightly above 2002 levels, however, this includes
projected capital expenditures for FASCO, which was not part of the consolidated Company during 2002.
Approximately two thirds (2/3) of the budgeted capital spending is planned for foreign operations to expand
product offerings. Additional spending may be required for acquisitions or investments in joint ventures or
partnering arrangements should such opportunities be pursued.

Working capital requirements, planned capital investment, capacity consolidation, and restructuring costs
for 2003 are expected to be financed primarily through internally available funds, supplemented, if necessary,
by borrowings and other sources of external financing.

Long-Term Liguidity

The Company anticipates that it will be able to continue to fund its long-term liquidity requirements,
including capital expenditures and working capital needs, from internally generated funds, supplemented by
borrowings and other financing arrangements as required. The Company maintains a $125 million revolving
credit facility, which is available for general corporate purposes. At December 31, 2002 the Company had
borrowed $75 million against this line on a short-term basis to fund the acquisition of FASCO. The Company
completed a private placement of $300 million of long-term senior notes with an average maturity of 6 years
and a final maturity of 8 years on March 5, 2003. Proceeds from the new notes were used to repay the
$250 million in bridge financing and to repay a portion of the amount borrowed against the revolving credit
facility.

Other available financing sources include long-term financing arrangements in connection with state
sponsored investment incentive programs, short-term borrowing and various other forms of financial instru-
ments to finance foreign working capital requirements and hedge exposure to foreign currency exchange risks.

The Company regularly considers various strategic business opportunities including acquisitions. Tecum-
seh evaluates such potential acquisitions on the basis of their ability to enhance the Company’s existing
products, operations, or capabilities, as well as provide access to new products, markets and customers.
Although no assurances can be given that any acquisition will be consummated, the Company may finance
such acquisitions through a number of sources including internally available cash resources, new debt
financing, the issuance of equity securities or any combination of the above.

International Operations

As of December 31, 2002, and excluding amounts related to FASCQO, approximately 44% of the
Company’s consolidated net sales and 37% of the Company’s total assets were outside of North America,
primarily in Brazil, France, Italy, India and the Czech Republic. Including FASCO, 29% of the Company’s
total assets were outside North America, with additional non-North American locations including Australia
and Thailand. Management believes that international operations have been, and will continue to be, a
significant benefit to overall Company performance. However, the Company’s international operations are
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subject to a number of risks inherent with operating abroad, including, but not limited to, world economic
conditions, political instability and currency rate fluctuations. There can be no assurance that these risks will
not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s foreign or consolidated net sales, or on its results of
operations or financial condition. For further information, see Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosure About Market Risk™ below.

Impact of Foreign Currencies

Changes in the value of foreign currencies in relation to the U.S. dollar can affect both reported results
and the competitiveness of goods produced for export in countries like Brazil. While the Company does hedge
some of its short-term forecasted transactions denominated in foreign currencies, the effects of these contracts
were not significant in 2002 or 2001. Alternatively, the Company does not generally hedge its net investment
in its foreign subsidiaries. During 2002, the U.S. dollar weakened against most currencies where the Company
has operations, with the exception of the Brazilian Real which devalued 53% against the U.S dollar during the
year. As a result, the Company’s investments in its foreign net assets declined in U.S. dollar value by
$26.1 million. Under applicable accounting standards, translation adjustments relating to the Company’s
investments in foreign affiliates are reflected in other comprehensive income (part of stockholders’ equity) in
the period in which they arise.

Environmental

As discussed under “Business — Engine & Power Train Products — Environmental Standards”, the
Company’s engines are subject to increasingly stringent emission and noise standards. In addition, as discussed
under “Business — Compressor Products — Regulatory Requirements”, the Company is subject to evolving
and sometimes conflicting environmental regulations and regulatory requirements governing the types of
refrigerants used in refrigeration and air conditioning products.

It is not presently possible to estimate the level of expenditures which will be required to meet any future
industry or governmental regulatory requirements, or the effect on the Company’s competitive position.

The Company is subject to various federal, state and local laws relating to the protection of the
environment, and is actively involved in various stages of investigation or remediation for sites where
contamination has been alleged. (See Item 3 “Legal Proceedings™ and Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.) Liabilities, relating to probable remediation activities, are recorded when the costs of such
activities can be reasonably estimated based on the facts and circumstances currently known. Difficulties exist
estimating the future timing and ultimate costs to be incurred due to uncertainties regarding the status of laws,
regulations, levels of required remediation, changes in remediation technology and information available.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001 the Company had accrued $36.3 million and $36.1 million, respectively
for environmental remediation, including $29.2 and $28.7 million, respectively relating to the Sheboygan River
and Harbor Superfund Site. As these matters continue toward final resolution, amounts in excess of those
already provided may be necessary to discharge the Company from its obligations for these sites. Such
amounts, depending on their amount and timing, could be material to reported net income in the particular
quarter or period which they are recorded. In addition, the uvitimate resolution of these matters, either
individually or in the aggregate, could be material to the consolidated financial statements. For further
information on environmental matters, see Item 3, “Legal Proceedings”.

New Accounting Standards

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. Under SFAS No. 142 goodwill is no longer amortized, but
is subject to impairment testing on at least an annual basis. As of December 31, 2001, the net book value of
the Company’s goodwill was $45.1 million. However, as required by the Statement, the Company tested for
impairment at the date of adoption and found that the goodwill associated with the Engine & Power Train
European operations had been impaired. Accordingly, goodwill amounting to $4.8 million ($3.1 million net of
tax) was written-off and recognized as a cumulative effect from an accounting change. The net book value of

21




the Company’s goodwill at December 31, 2002, was $270.3 million, and included $223.2 million of goodwill
recorded in connection with the FASCO acquisition. Amortization of goodwill amounted to approximately
$1.5 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001.

On January 1, 2002, the Company also adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-lived Assets”. This statement, which superseded SFAS No. 121, addresses accounting and
financial reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. There was no material effect on the
results of operations or financial position as a result of adopting this standard. The nonrecurring items recorded
in the first and fourth quarters were determined in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144.

In June 2002 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting
for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”. The standard nullifies EITF Issue 94-3, “Liability
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit”. In particular, the new
standard applies to involuntary work force reductions and the costs to consolidate facilities. The statement
mostly addresses when such costs can be accrued and generally delays recognition versus current practice by
providing that liabilities must be actually incurred and not just planned. The standard is effective for actions
occurring after December 31, 2002. To the extent that the Company takes such actions in 2003, SFAS
No. 146 will be applied.

The FASB also issued other standards during 2002, including SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-
based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure an amendment to SFAS No. 123”. The Company does not
employ the type of stock-based compensation covered by SFAS No. 148 and does not believe that it or any of
these other standards will have an effect on the Company.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires that management make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and
expenses during the period. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and other assumptions
that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Management continually evaluates the information used to make these estimates as our business and the
economic environment change. The use of estimates is pervasive throughout the Company’s financial
statements, but the accounting policies and estimates Management considers most critical are as follows:

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

It is the Company’s policy to review our long-lived assets for possible impairment whenever events and
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. The Company recognizes
losses relating to the impairment of long-lived assets when the future undiscounted cash flows are less than the
asset’s carrying value. Assumptions and estimates used in the evaluation of impairment, including current and
future economic trends, the effects of new technologies and foreign currency movements are subject to a high
degree of judgment and complexity. Changes in the assumptions and estimates may affect the carrying value
of long-lived assets and could result in additional impairment charges in future periods.

Goodwill and Intangibles

Purchase accounting requires accounting estimates and judgments to allocate the purchase price to the
fair market value of the assets and liabilities purchased. On December 30, 2002 the Company acquired
FASCQO for $396.6 million, recognizing $223.2 million in goodwill and $55 million in intangibles with lives
ranging from 2 years to indefinite lives. These values are based upon preliminary estimates of the fair market
values of the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities of FASCO at the date of acquisition. These
estimates will be adjusted upon completion of professional asset appraisals.

In addition, the Company has additional amounts of goodwill and. intangible assets recorded from
previous acquisitions. These assets, and those recorded in conjunction with the FASCO acquisition, are
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subject to periodic evaluation for impairment when circumstances warrant, or at least once per year. With
respect to goodwill, impairment is tested in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangibles” by comparison of the carrying value of the reporting unit to its fair value. As there is not a quoted
price for the Company’s reporting units, fair value is estimated based upon a present value technique of
estimated future cash flows. Assumptions in estimating future cash flows are subject to a high degree of
judgment and complexity. Changes in the assumptions and estimates may affect the carrying value of goodwill
and could result in additional impairment charges in future periods. Intangible assets other than goodwill are
also subject to periodic evaluation for impairment and are equally sensitive to changes in the underlying
assumptions and estimates.

Accrued and Contingent Liabilities

The Company has established reserves for environmental and legal contingencies in accordance with
SFAS No. 5. A significant amount of judgment and use of estimates is required to quantify the Company’s
ultimate exposure in these matters. The valuation of reserves for contingencies is reviewed on a quarterly basis
at the operating and corporate levels to assure that the Company is properly reserved. Reserve balances are
adjusted to account for changes in circumstances for ongoing issues and the establishment of additional
reserves for emerging issues. While management believes that the current level of reserves is adequate,
changes in the future could impact these determinations. For additional information on environmental
liabilities, see Note 8 to the Financial Statements.

Employee Related Benefits

Accounting for pensions and other postretirement benefits involves several assumptions relating to
expected rates of return on plan assets, determination of discount rates for remeasuring plan obligations,
determination of inflation rates regarding compensation levels and health care cost projections. The Company
develops its demographics and utilizes the work of actuaries to assist with the measurement of employee
related obligations. The assumptions used vary from year-to-year, which will affect future results of operations.
Any differences among these assumptions and the Company’s actual return on assets, financial market-based
discount rates, and the level of cost sharing provisions will also impact future results of operations.

Outlook

Information in this “Outlook’™ section should be read in conjunction with the cautionary language and
discussion of risks included above.

The Company does not expect 2003 worldwide market conditions in its Compressor and Engine
Businesses to be much improved over 2002. Conditions in these markets will continue to suffer from over-
capacity and deflationary pricing. However, actions to improve profitability in these segments, as well as the
addition of FASCO should improve overall Company earnings in 2003, excluding any restructuring charges, if
cost reduction efforts are sustained.

Full year 2003 results in the Compressor segment are expected to continue to improve, as they did in
2002, as a result of past actions to consolidate operations in the U.S. and move production to low-cost
locations like India and Brazil. In addition, the Group will be looking at ways to revitalize U.S. operations by
reversing the negative growth pattern demonstrated over the past several years. Until this can be accom-
plished, the Group’s reliance on Brazilian operations for growth and profitability will represent a significant
concentration of risk. Profits from the Brazilian and Indian compressor operations are expected to grow in
2003 as a result of their additional productive capacities.

Results in the Engine Group are expected to deteriorate before they improve. The restructuring actions
recognized in the fourth quarter only represent an initial step in correcting the overall cost structure of the
Group and further actions are expected in 2003 as the new engine component operations in Brazil commence
and further restructuring actions are defined and implemented. While improvements are not materializing as
quickly as desired, the slower approach has the benefit of not compromising the supply of quality product to
our customers. :
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company is exposed to market risk during the normal course of business from credit risk associated
with accounts receivable and from changes in interest rates, commodity prices and foreign currency exchange
rates. The exposure to these risks is managed through a combination of normal operating and financing
activities which include the use of derivative financial instruments in the form of foreign currency forward
exchange contracts and commodity forward purchasing contracts.

Credit Risk — Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit
risk are primarily cash investments and accounts receivable. The Company places its cash investments in bank
deposits and investment grade, short-term debt instruments (predominately commercial paper) with reputable
credit-worthy counterparties and, by policy, limits the amount of credit exposure to any one counterparty.

The Company uses contemporary credit review procedures to approve customer credit. Customer
accounts are actively monitored and collection efforts are pursued within normal industry practice. Manage-
ment believes that concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are somewhat limited due to the
large number of customers in the Company’s customer base and their dispersion across different industries and
geographic areas. However, in the Engine & Power Train Group, the manufacture of small gasoline engine-
powered lawn and garden equipment is dominated, to a large extent, by three manufacturers. The Company
sells to all three of these manufacturers and, as a result, a significant portion of the Group’s open accounts
receivable at any time is comprised of amounts due from these three manufacturers.

A portion of export accounts receivable of the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary is sold at a discount.
Discounted receivable balances in the Brazilian subsidiary at December 31, 2002 and 2001 were $41.2 and
$15.5 million, respectively, and the discount rate was 4.9% in 2002 and 4.8% in 2001. The Company maintains
an allowance for losses based upon the expected collectability of all accounts receivable, including receivables
sold.

Interest Rate Risk — The Company is subject to minimal interest rate risk in relation to variable rate,
long-term Industrial Development Revenue Bonds and to short-term variable rate borrowings used by our
foreign subsidiaries to manage their working capital needs. The Company’s interim financing of the FASCO
acquisition was subject to variable interest rates, however, these borrowings were refinanced on March 5, 2003
with fixed rate debt. The Company is also subject to interest rate risk relating to interest earned on its short-
term funds invested.

Commodity Price Risk — The Company uses commodity forward purchasing contracts to help control
the cost of traded commodities, primarily copper and aluminum, used as raw material in the production of
compressor motors and components and engines. Company policy allows local management to contract
commodity forwards for a limited percentage of projected raw material requirements up to one year in
advance. Commodity contracts at most of the Company’s divisions and subsidiaries are essentially purchase
contracts designed to fix the price of the commodities during the operating cycle. The Company’s practice has
been to accept delivery of the commodities and consume them in manufacturing activities. At December 31,
2002 and 2001, the Company held a total notional value of $14.6 and $25.8 million, respectively, in commodity
forward purchasing contracts. The majority of these contracts were not recorded on the balance sheet as they
did not require an initial cash outlay and do not represent a liability until delivery of the commodities is
accepted. However, commodity contracts at the Company’s French compressor subsidiary are essentially
derivative financial instruments designed to hedge the fluctuation in commoadity pricing and, as such, are
subject to the provisions of SFAS No. 133.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk — The Company is subject to foreign currency exchange exposure for
operations whose assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars. On a normal
basis, the Company does not attempt to hedge the foreign currency translation fluctuations in the net
investments in its foreign subsidiaries. The Company does, from time to time, enter into short-term forward
exchange contracts to sell or purchase foreign currencies at specified rates based on estimated foreign currency
cash flows. Company policy allows local management to hedge known receivables or payables and forecasted
cash flows up to a year in advance. It is the policy of the Company not to purchase financial and/or derivative
instruments for speculative purposes. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company held foreign currency
forward contracts with a total notional value of $4.9 and $15.0 million, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of
Tecumseh Products Company

Management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the financial statements and other
information presented in this annual report. The statements were prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles and, where necessary, include certain amounts based on management’s best
estimate and judgment to reflect the expected effects of events and transactions that have not been completed.
All financial information in the annual report is consistent with the financial statements.

Management has established and maintains a system of internal accounting controls to provide
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed in accordance with manage-
ment’s authorization. These controls are documented by written policies and procedures that are communi-
cated to employees with significant roles in the financial reporting process. This system is continually reviewed,
evaluated, and modified to reflect current conditions.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, composed of outside Directors, assists the Board of
Directors in overseeing and monitoring management’s and the independent public accountants’ participation
in the financial reporting process. The Audit Committee meets regularly with management, the internal
auditors, and the independent public accountants. Both the independent public accountants and the internal
auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee with and without management’s representative
present, to discuss the results of their examinations and their opinions on the adequacy of internal accounting
controls and quality of financial reporting.

The independent public accountants are engaged to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements. Their opinion is based on procedures which they believe to be sufficient to provide reasonable
assurance that the financial statements contain no material errors.

Todd W. Herrick
Chairman of the Board of Directors,
President and Chief Executive Officer

David W. Kay
Vice President, Treasurer and
Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Tecumseh Products Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Tecumseh Products Company and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of income,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Tecumseh Products Company and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and
2001 and the consolidated results of operations and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, and
SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets”, effective January 1, 2002.

Ciulla, Smith & Dale, LLP
Certified Public Accountants

January 31, 2003
Southfield, Michigan

27




TECUMSEH PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31,
2602 2001 2000

(Dollars in miltions
except per share data)

NEt SAlES . . oottt $1,343.8  $1,398.9  $1,649.9
Cost of sales and operating €Xpenses ... ...........coveunneeen.. 1,141.6 1,207.2 1,411.4
Selling and administrative eXpenses. .........ovvvieennnnerenan 117.4 112.1 118.3
Nonrecurring iems .. ...ttt 10.3 35.4 33.5

Operating iNCOIME . . ... vttt ettt ettt e eens 74.5 44.2 86.7
Interest EXpense ... ... oot e (5.8) (4.1) (6.7)
Interest income and other, net . ..........ciiiiii i 15.1 20.3 27.9

Income before taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting
PTG Dl . . e e 83.8 60.4 107.9
TaxXes ON INCOMIE ...\ttt ettt ittt et e e 29.7 17.6 41.8

Income before cumulative effect of accounting change................ 54.1 42.8 66.1

Cumulative effect of accounting change for goodwill, net of tax ........ 3.1) — —

Net INCOME .o v i e e e $§ 510 $ 428 § 66.1

Basic and diluted earnings per share
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change.............. $ 293 § 230 § 344
Change in accounting for goodwill. .............. ... ... . o (0.17) — —
NEt INCOTNE . .o oottt ettt e e e $§ 276 $§ 230 $ 344

The accompany notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TECUMSEH PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2002 2001
(Dollars in millions)
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ... .. ... .. . i $ 3331 % 3176
Accounts receivable, trade, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $9.2 million in 2002 and
$7.7 million in 2000 ... 2424 2071
853 1100 4 113 304.0 261.9
Deferred and recoverable inCome taxes .. ...ttt i 51.4 58.0
Other CUITENt @SSTS . . .\ v oottt ettt et e et ettt e e e e e e e et e e 24.2 14.9
Total CUITENT ASSEES . ..ot ittt et e it et et ettt e e 955.1 859.5
Property, Plant, and Equipment, at cost:
Land and land IMpProvements . ... .. ...ttt e 28.6 18.7
Buildings . ... oo e 219.6 170.1
Machinery and equipment. . ... .. ... e 961.4 760.0
ASSEES TN PTOCESS . .\ttt e vt ettt et et ettt e e e e e e e e e 51.5 44.2
1,261.1 993.0
Less, accumulated depreciation ....... ... ... i 690.6 561.1
Property, plant and equipment, net ............. .. i i 570.5 431.9
GoodWill ... 270.3 45.1
Deferred inCOmMe taXes . ... ..ottt 322 29.7
Prepaid pension eXpense .. ... ... e 162.8 137.3
Other ASS8TS . ..ot e 72.1 16.3
TOtal ASSEES .\ ottt e e e e $2,063.0 $1,519.8
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable, trade. .. ... . . $ 1726 $ 1013
Income taxes payable. . . ... i 8.6 42
Short-term BOITOWINES . . .. .\ttt et e e 112.6 1.6
Accrued liabilities:
Employee CompPensation . .. ... oovt et tin i e 37.8 29.0
Product warranty and self-insured risks . ....... ... ..o i i 51.7 56.7
OtheT o e e 68.1 51.0
Total current liabilities. . ... ... ... e 451.4 253.8
Long-term debt. . ... e 298.2 13.7
Deferred INCOMIE TaKES . ...\ttt ittt e e e e e 336 3.0
Other postretirement benefit liabilities. . ...... ... .. .. .. i 217.3 203.0
Product warranty and self-insured risks . ......... ... 213 23.9
Accrual for environmental Matters . .. ... ... .. e 29.5 29.4
Pension Habilities ... ... .. i e e 32.8 15.3
Total Habilities . ... e 1,084.1 542.1
Stockholders’ Equity
Class A common stock, $1 par value; authorized 75,000,000 shares; issued 13,401,938 shares
in 2002 and 2000, . . ..o e 13.4 134
Class B common stock, $1 par value; authorized 25,000,000 shares; issued 5,077,746 shares in
2002 and 2000, . ... 5.1 5.1
Retained earmings . . ... ... ittt e 1,078.9 1,051.5
Accumulated other comprehensive income (1088) ... ... ... i (118.5) (92.3)
Total stockholders” equity . ... ... it s 978.9 977.7
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ...... ... ..ot $2,063.0 $1,519.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TECUMSEH PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2002 2001 2000
(Dotllars in millions)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Net income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ... $ 354.1 § 428 § 66.1
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization. .......... ... .00 65.1 72.0 71.2
NONTECUTTING TTEIMIS . . ¢t ettt et e i 10.3 354 335
Accounts receivable ... .. L 18.4 52.7 (5.8)
Inventories . .. ..o (13.8) 8.7 (14.9)
Payables and accrued expenses ............. i 20.0 (23.6) 20.2
Prepaid pension €Xpense. . ... ottt (25.5)  (31.4) (25.3)
Other ... 2.9 16.4 (11.0)
Cash Provided By Operating Activities ........................ 131.5 173.0 134.0
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired ........................... (392.9) (13.4) —
Capital expenditures . .. ... oot e (73.9) (654) (64.0)
Cash Used In Investing Activities ..................oiiien... (466.8)  (78.8)  (64.0)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Dividends paid. . ... ..o e (23.7)  (23.8) (24.5)
Proceeds from borrowings .......... .. ... i 379.1 5.3 1.2
Repayments of borrowings .. ...t (1.6) (0.4) (34)
Repurchases of common stock . ....... ... . i — (18.1)  (39.6)
Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities ............... 353.8 (37.0)  (66.3)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changeson Cash................. ... ....... (3.0) (7.8) (6.0)
Increase (Decrease) In Cash and Cash Equivalents ................... 15.5 49.4 (2.3)
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Beginning of Period ....... ... ... ... 317.6 268.2 270.5
Endof Period ...... ..t $ 3331 $317.6  $268.2

The accompany notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TECUMSEH PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
Other Total
Class A Class B Retained Comprehensive  Stockholders’
$1 Par Value  $1 Par Value Earnings Income/ (Loss) Equity
(Dollars in millions)
Ralance, December 31, 1999........ $14.3 $ 55 $1,047.3 $ (52.9) $1,014.2
Comprehensive Income:
Netincome ...................... 66.1 66.1
Minimum pension liability (net of
tax of $0.1) ...l 0.5 0.5
Gain (loss) on derivatives (net of tax
benefit of $0.2) .......... ... ... 0.3) (0.3)
Translation adjustments (net of tax
benefit of $7.5) . ................ (21.0) (21.0)
Total Comprehensive Income . . . 45.3
Cash dividends ................... (24.5) (24.5)
Stock repurchase ................. 0.9 (38.7) (39.6)
Balance, December 31, 2000..... ... 13.4 5.5 1,050.2 (73.7) 995.4
Comprehensive Income:
Netincome ..........cooveninn... 428 42.8
Minimum pension liability {net of
tax of $0.5) ... 0.4 0.4
Gain (loss) on derivatives (net of
tax of $0.2) ... i 0.3 0.3
Translation adjustments {net of tax
benefit of $11.0) ................ (19.3) (19.3)
Total Comprehensive Income . . . 242
Cash dividends ................... (23.8) (23.8)
Stock repurchase ................. (0.4) (17.7) (18.1)
Balance, December 313, 2061........ 13.4 5.1 1,051.5 (92.3) 977.7
Comprehensive Income:
Netincome ............c.covve... 510 51.0
Minimum pension liability ......... (0.1) (0.1)
Translation adjustments (net of tax
benefit of $13.7) ................ (26.1) (26.1)
Total Comprehensive Income . . . 248
Cash dividends ................... (23.6) (23.6)
Balance, December 31, 2062........ $13.4 $ 5.1 $1,078.9 $(118.5) $ 9789

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in millions)

Note 1. Accounting Policies

Business Description — Tecumseh Products Company (the “Company”) is a full line, independent
global manufacturer of hermetic compressors for residential and commercial refrigerators, freezers, water
coolers, dehumidifiers, window air conditioning units and residential and commercial central system air
conditioners and heat pumps; gasoline engines and power trains for lawn mowers, lawn and garden tractors,
garden tillers, string trimmers, snow throwers, industrial and agricultural applications and recreational
vehicles; and centrifugal pumps, sump pumps and small submersible pumps for industrial, commercial marine
and agricultural applications.

On December 30, 2002, the Company acquired FASCO, a leading manufacturer of electric motors and
components, including AC and DC motors, blowers, gear motors and linear actuators, for a wide variety of
industrial and consumer applications across a broad range of industries.

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its subsidiaries. The Company’s investments in unconsolidated affiliates are generally accounted
for on the equity basis. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Foreign Currency Translation — All of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries use the local currency of the
country of operation as the functional currency. Assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at year-
end exchange rates while revenues and expenses are translated at average monthly exchange rates. The
resulting translation adjustments are recorded in other comprehensive income or loss, a component of
stockholders’ equity. Realized foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in current income and
amounted to a net gain of $5.2 million in 2002. Amounts realized in 2001 and 2000 were not significant.

Cash Equivalents — Cash equivalents consist of commercial paper and other short-term investments that
are readily convertible into cash.

Inventories — Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, generally on the first-in, first-out
basis.

Property, Plant and Equipment — Expenditures for additions, major renewals and betfterments are
capitalized and expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. For financial
statement purposes, depreciation is determined using the straight-line method at rates based upon the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Depreciation expense was $64.9, $70.5, and $69.3 million in 2002, 2001
and 2000, respectively.

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-lived Assets”. This statement, which supersedes SFAS No. 121, addresses accounting and financial
reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. The nonrecurring items in 2002 include
$7.2 million for the impairment of unusable assets determined in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 144.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets — Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to
have indefinite lives are no longer amortized, but are subject to impairment testing on at least an annual basis.
Other intangible assets continue to be amortized over their estimated useful lives. Accumulated amortization
of goodwill and intangibles was $29.9 and $25.1 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The
Company tested goodwill for impairment at the date of adoption and found that goodwill associated with the
Engine & Power Train European operations had been impaired. Accordingly, goodwill amounting to
$4.8 million ($3.1 million net of tax) was written-off and recognized as a cumulative effect from an accounting
change. At December 31, 2002 the Company’s goodwill associated with its three reportable business segments
was $39.9 million for Compressor Products, $2.1 million for Engine & Power Train Products, and $5.1 million
for Pump Products. As more fully explained in Note 13, The Company acquired FASCO on December 30,
2002. This acquisition was accounted for as a purchase following the accounting standards established under
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SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”, and No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. Goodwill
associated with the FASCO purchase was preliminarily estimated to be $223.2 million. The final value of
goodwill recorded at December 31, 2002 is subject to adjustment as third party valuations are completed. The
Company recognized goodwill amortization of $1.5 and $1.7 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively. Net
earnings for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, excluding goodwill amortization, would have been
$43.8 million and $67.2 million, respectively. The Company’s accounting policy for goodwill prior to
January 1, 2002 was to amortize goodwill over its estimated useful life, principally over a forty-year period.

Intangible assets associated with the FASCO purchase were preliminarily estimated to be $55 million
consisting of $35 million in intangible assets subject to amortization and $20 million in intangibles with
indefinite useful lives. The final value of intangible assets associated with the FASCO purchase is subject to
adjustment as third party valuations are completed. Intangible assets are included with Other assets on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Revenue Recognition — Revenues from the sale of the Company’s products are recognized upon passage
of title to the customer, which, in most cases, coincides with shipment of the products.

Derivative Financial Instruments — Derivative financial instruments are occasionally utilized by the
Company to manage risk exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates. The Company, from time to time,
enters into forward exchange contracts to obtain foreign currencies at specified rates based on expected future
cash flows for each currency. The premium or discount on the contracts is amortized over the life of the
contract. Changes in the value of derivative financial instruments are measured at the balance sheet date and
recognized in current earnings or other comprehensive income depending on whether the derivative is
designated as part of a hedge transaction and, if it is, the type of transaction. The Company does not hold
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. See Note 10 for discussion of adoption of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”.

Product Warranty — Provision is made for the estimated cost of maintaining product warranties at the
time the product is sold.

Self-Insured Risks — Provision is made for the estimated costs of known and anticipated claims under
the deductible portions of the Company’s health, liability and workers’ compensation insurance programs. In
addition, provision is made for the estimated cost of post-employment benefits.

Environmental Expenditures — Expenditures for environmental safekeeping are expensed or capitalized
as appropriate. Costs associated with remediation activities are expensed. Liabilities relating to probable
remedial activities are recorded when the costs of such activities can be reasonably estimated and are not
discounted or reduced for possible recoveries from insurance carriers.

Earnings Per Share — Basic and diluted earnings per share are equivalent. Earnings per share are
computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the periods reported. The
weighted average number of common shares used in the computations was 18,479,684 in 2002, 18,607,249 in
2001, and 19,218,065 in 2000.

Research, Development and Testing Expenses — Company sponsored research, development and testing
expenses related to present and future products are expensed as incurred and were $30.8, $27.6, and
$28.1 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts during
the reporting period and at the date of the financial statements. Significant estimates include accruals for
product warranty, self-insured risks, pension and postretirement benefit obligations and environmental
matters, as well as the evaluation of goodwill and long-lived asset impairment. Actual results could differ
materially from those estimates.

33




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Note 2. Comprehensive Income

Accumulated other comprehensive income or loss is shown in the Consolidated Statements of Stockhold-
ers’ Equity and includes the following:

2002 2001
Foreign currency translation adjustments (net of tax of $63.1 million in 2002
and $49.6 million in 2001) .. ... o $(117.8) $(91.7)
Minimum pension liability adjustments (net of tax of $0.4 million in 2002
and 2000) ... (0.7) (0.6)

$(118.5) $(92.3)

MNote 3. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

The Company has defined benefit retirement plans that cover substantially all domestic employees. Plans
covering salaried employees generally provide pension benefits that are based on average earnings and years of
credited service. Plans covering hourly employees generally provide pension benefits of stated amounts for
each year of service. The Company sponsors a retiree health care benefit plan, including retiree life insurance,
for eligible salaried employees and their eligible dependents. At certain divisions, the Company also sponsors
retiree health care benefit plans for hourly retirees and their eligible dependents. The retiree health care plans,
which are unfunded, provide for coordination of benefits with Medicare and any other insurance plan covering
a participating retiree or dependent, and have lifetime maximum benefit restrictions. Some of the retiree
health care plans are contributory, with some retiree contributions adjusted annually. The Company has
reserved the right to interpret, change or eliminate these health care benefit plans.

The Company uses September 30 as the measurement date (the date upon which plan assets and
obligations are measured) to facilitate the preparation and reporting of pension and postretirement plan data.
Information regarding the funded status and net periodic benefit costs are reconciled to or stated as of the
fiscal year end of December 31.

34




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the plans’ benefit obligations, fair value of

assets and funded status for 2002 and 2001:

Pension Other
2002 2001 2002 2001
Reconciliation of benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of period............. ... $302.4 $2703 $1684  $1425
Service cost. . ... 5.2 6.3 4.7 4.6
Interest oSt ... oo e 21.2 18.3 11.9 9.7
Amendments. . ... 0.7 — — —_
Actuarial (gain) loss ........ ... .. ... . . (1.3) 11.3 2 6.7
Acquired with FASCO ............................ 399 — 10.6 —
Curtailment 1oss . . ...t — 18.0 — 11.3
Benefit payments .......... ... (17.3) (21.8) (7.4) (6.4)
Benefit obligation at measurement date ................ $350.8  $302.4 $188.4 $168.4
Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets
Fair value at beginning of period ...................... $567.4  $605.0
Actual returnon plan assets .. ........ ... ... ... (9.1) (15.8)
Acquired with FASCO ............................ 248 —
Employer contributions . ................. ... .. 0.2 —
Benefit payments ........... .. (17.3) (21.8)
Fair value at measurement date . ...................... $566.0 $5674
The following table provides the funded status of the plans for 2002 and 2001:
Pension Other
2002 2001 2002 2001
Funded status
Funded status at measurement date ................ $230.2 $ 2649 $(177.8) $(168.4)
Unrecognized transition (asset) obligation ......... (L.8) 3.9) — —
Unrecognized prior service cost .................. 9.6 10.3 (6.4) (7.7)
Unrecognized (gain) ............coiiiiiiinnn. .. (72.2)y  (134.0) (29.1) (33.0)
IRC §420 asset transfer ........................ (3.0) — — —
Acquired with FASCO ........... ... ... ...... (15.1) — (10.6) —
Net amount recognized .. ....................... $147.7 $ 137.3  $(223.9) $(209.1)
Total recegnized amounts in the balance sheets
consist of:
Prepaid benefit cost .......... ... i, $162.8 § 137.3
Accrued pension COSt. . ... ..., (15.1) —
Net amount recognized . . ........ ... ..o $147.7  $ 1373
For plans not fully funded:
Accumulated benefit obligation .................. $351 $§ 14
Planassets .......... ... . i i 248 —
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The following tables provide the components of net periodic benefit (income) cost for 2002, 2001 and
2000:

2002 2001 2000

Pension benefits

SEIVICE COSE . .\ vttt ettt e et e e $ 52 % 63 § 66

Interest COSt. .. oot e e 21.2 18.3 18.8

Expected return on plan assets ............... oo, (45.0)  (43.1) (40.6)

Amortization of net (gain) ......... . ... .. i (9.8) (129) (9.9)

Curtailment 1oss . ... .. o — 18.0 —

Net periodic benefit (income)............. .. ..o, $(28.4) $(134) $(25.1)
Other benefits

SeIVICE COSL vttt $ 47 § 46 §$ 46

Interest COSt. ...t e 11.9 9.7 9.1

Curtailment 108s .. ..ot e —_ 11.3 —

Amortization of net (gain) ......... .. ... i (5.0) {6.0) (4.8)

Net periodic benefit cost ..............cc i $§ 116 $196 § 89
Assumptions used in measuring the benefit obligations were:

Pension Other
2002 2001 2002 2001

DiSCOUNt TatE .. oottt it e e 6.75% 725% 6.75% 7.25%
Long-term rate of:

Compensation inCreases. . .............oovvvenneeennn.. 500% 5.00% N/A  N/A

Return on plan assets ............ ... ... i, 6.75% 7.50% N/A N/A

For measurement purposes an 8.38% annual rate of increase in the cost of covered health care benefits
was assumed for 2002. The rate was assumed to decrease each year to a rate of 5.25% for 2008 and remain at
that rate thereafter.

In 2001, the Company offered an early retirement incentive plan to eligible employees which resulted in
the recognition of a curtailment loss of $29.3 million. The accumulated other postretirement benefit obligation
was increased by $11.3 million and additional pension expense of $18.0 million was recorded.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care
plans. A one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

+1% —1%
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation ........................ . ... $26.3  $(22.1)
Net postretirement benefit cost ... ... .. .. o i 2.4 (2.3)

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries provide for defined benefits that are generally based on earnings at
retirement date and years of credited service. The combined expense for these unfunded plans was $2.6, $3.0
and $2.9 million in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. The net liability recorded in the consolidated balance
sheet was $17.7 and $14.6 million for 2002 and 2001, respectively. Tecumseh Europe, S.A. has a minimum
pension liability of $1.1 million $(0.7 million net of tax effects) which is recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income.

The Company has defined contribution retirement plans that cover substantially all domestic employees.
The combined expense for these plans was $2.5, $2.9 and $3.9 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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Note 4. Income Taxes

Consolidated income before taxes consists of the following:

United States . . ..o
FOreIgN - o e

Provision for income taxes consists of the following:

Current:
US. federal ... .. ..
State and local. .. ... .. .. .
Foreign income and withholding taxes ..........................

Deferred:
US. federal ...
Forelgn . ...

Provision for income taxes . . ...ttt

Income tax provision includes the following:
Continuing OPerations. . ... ..ottt
Cumulative effect of accounting change...........................

Income taxes (refunded) paid........... ... . ... ... i

A reconciliation between the actual income tax expense provided and the income tax expense computed

NOTES TO CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

2002 2001 2000
$226 $159 $ 56.9
56.5 445 51.0
$79.1  $60.4  $107.9
2002 2001 2000
$(32) $(22.2) $164
1.2 07) 22
22.0 156 207
20.0 (7.3) 393
11.4 25.7 3.1
(3.4)  (08) (0.6)
8.0 24.9 2.5
$280 § 17.6 $41.8
$297 $17.6 $41.8
(1.7) — —
$280 $ 17.6 $41.8
$10.1  $ (2.4) $42.4

by applying the statutory federal income tax rate of 35% to income before tax is as follows:

Income taxes at U.S. statutory rate

Excess of foreign taxes over the U.S. statutoryrate . .................
State and local inCOMeE taXES . ...\ttt e

Tax benefits from Foreign Sales Corporation
Other
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2002 2001 2000
$27.7  $21.1  $37.8
1.3 2.0 7.8
08 (04) 14
(13)  (L7) (18)
(02) (34) (34)
$28.3 $17.6 $41.8
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 were as

follows:
2002
Deferred tax assets:
Other postretirement liabilities ... ....... .o i $ 826
Product warranty and self-insured risks. . ....... ... ... o o 21.0
Net operating loss carryforwards ...... P 0.5
Provision for environmental Matters . ...ttt 12.8
Other accruals and miscellaneous ....... ... .. ... i 105.3
222.2
Valuation allowance . ...t (3.2)
Total deferred tax assets . ...ttt e 219.0 .
Deferred tax liabilities:
Tax over book depreciation. . ... 62.1
e 133 1o o I O U 59.2
Ot o e 47.7
Total deferred tax liabilities ... ... ... ... ... . . i, 169.0
Net deferred tax assets ... ..o v ittt e e $ 50.0

The Company’s share of accumulated unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries at December 31, 2002

and 2001 was $264.4 and $245.7 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2002, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards attributable to foreign
operations for income tax purposes of $1.1 million which expire from 2003 to 2007 if not offset against future

taxable income.

Note 5. Inventories

The components of inventories at December 31, were:

2002
Raw materials and work in process ... .. P $164.3
Finished goods .. ... ... 123.5
SUPPHES . . oo e _ 162
$3040

Note 6. Business Segment Data

In accordance with SFAS No., 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information”, the Company has identified three reportable operating segments. Operating segments are
defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available that is evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision maker(s) in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing

performance.

The Company’s three reportable operating segments are defined as follows:

Compressor Products — Manufacturing and marketing of a full line of hermetic compressors for

residential and commercial air conditioning and refrigeration products.
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2001

§77.3
23.3
5.7
13.4
85.0
204.7
(3.2)
2015

333
57.5
39.8

130.6
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Engine & Power Train Products — Manufacturing and marketing of gasoline engines and power train
components for lawn and garden and utility applications.

Pump Products — Manufacturing and marketing centrifugal, sump and small submersible pumps for
industrial, commercial, marine and agricultural applications.

FASCO was acquired on December 30, 2002. Accordingly, none of FASCQO’s operating results are
included in the Company’s operating segment disclosures. FASCQ’s assets are disclosed on a separate line in
the assets segment information as this acquisition will be the basis for forming a fourth reportable segment,
“Electrical Components”, in 2003.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 1 of Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

External customer sales by geographic area are based upon the destination of products sold. The
Company has no single customer that accounts for 10% or more of consolidated net sales. Long-lived assets by
geographic area are based upon the physical location of the assets.

39




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued}

Industry Segment Information

2002 2001 2000
External customer sales:
Compressor Products . .. ... ov it e $ 7909 $ 8046 $ 9198
Engine & Power Train Products .......... ... ... ... ity 4323 480.9 612.8
Pump Products . ... ... 120.6 113.4 117.3
Total external customer Sales .. ......ovii i, $1,343.8 $1,398.9 $1,649.9
Operating income:
Compressor Products . . ... $ 775 $ 543 § 665
Engine & Power Train Products ................. ... ... ... 1.4 20.0 46.8
Pump Products . .. ..ot e 14.8 11.6 14.7
Corporate and consolidating items . ...............cooiiinneio.. (8.9) (6.3) (7.8)
Nonrecurring items .. ... ...ttt e (10.3) (35.4) (33.5)
Total operating inCOME . .. ...\t eees $ 745 § 442 § 867
Reconciliation to income before taxes:
Operating INCOMIE . . . ...\ttt ettt ittt ettt e $ 745 § 442 $ 86.7
Interest iNCOME, MEt . . ... .ttt it et 9.3 16.2 21.2
Income before taxes. ... $ 838 § 604 $ 1079
Assets:
Compressor Products . ... ..ottt e $ 5330 §$ 5752 §$ 6121
Engine & Power Train Products ............ccoiiiviinnennno.n. 273.3 255.0 3122
Pump Products. ... ..o 58.7 58.0 61.6
Corporate and consolidating items ............. ..., 662.6 631.6 567.2
FASCO . 535.4 — —
Total ASSETS . . vt vt e e $2,063.0 $1,519.8 $1,553.1
Capital expenditures:
Compressor Products . . .....oovit it e $ 470 $ 531 § 434
Engine & Power Train Products ........... ... ... ... ..ivoin.t. 23.0 10.0 18.3
Pump Products . . ..o e 0.6 1.6 1.9
COTPOTALE .\ vttt et e e e e 3.3 0.7 0.4
Total capital expenditures ..........ooovnriiiiriiineneneen § 739 § 654 $§ 640
Depreciation and amortization:
Compressor Products . ... ..ot $ 417 $§ 494 $§ 501
Engine & Power Train Products ...... ... ... ... ... iiiont. 20.7 19.9 18.8
Pump Products . . ... e 1.8 1.7 1.7
COTPOTALE . .t e 0.9 1.0 0.6
Total depreciation and amortization ......................... $§ 651 § 720 § 712
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Geographic Segment Information

Customer Sales by Destination

2002 2001 2000

North America
United States .. ... $ 6959 § 7485 $§ 897.6
Other North AmMEerica . ... ..t e 56.1 70.1 71.2
Total North AmMErica. .. ...t e 752.0 818.6 968.8
South America . ... .. 116.7 134.8 161.7
o o= 259.8 247.0 270.6
Middle East and Asia . ... . 215.3 198.5 248.8
$1,343.8  $1,398.9 $1,6499

Net Long-Lived Assets

2002 2001 2000
United StateS . . vttt e e $322.8  $265.5  $292.3
Brazil ... SR 97.9 76.7 70.4
Restof world . ... ..o o 149.8 89.7 82.0
$570.5  $431.9 $4447
Note 7. Debt
2002 2001
Short-term borrowings consist of the following:
Borrowings by foreign subsidiaries under revolving credit agreements, advances on
export receivables and overdraft arrangements with banks used in the normal course
of business; weighted average interest rate of 5.5% in 2002 and 6.7% in 2001....... $ 356 $109
Borrowings under a $125 million unsecured revolving credit facility with a consortium
of banks, bearing interest at variable rates (2.16% at December 31, 2002) and
maturing on December 30, 2005. . .. ... .. 75.0 —
Current maturities of long-term debt. . ... .. ... . . 2.0 0.7
Total short-term bOrrowings . ... ...ttt e $112.6  $11.6
Long-term debt consists of the following:
Unsecured borrowings, primarily with banks, by foreign subsidiaries with weighted
average interest rate of 6.6% and maturing in 2003 through 2012. ................ $377 $12
Unsecured bridge loan from a bank bearing interest at variable rates (2.06% at
December 31, 2002) and maturing on June 30,2003, ....... ... ... ... ... .. 250.0 —
Variable rate Industrial Development Revenue Bonds payable in quarterly installments
from 2003 t0 2021.. . . _ 125 132
300.2 14.4
Less current maturities of long-term debt. ... ... ... .. o i 2.0 0.7
Total long-term debt ... ... . . $298.2  $13.7

|

On December 30, 2002, the Company acquired FASCQO. The acquisition was financed with proceeds
from $325 million in new bank borrowings and internal cash flows. Of $325 million in new borrowings,
$250 million was from a six-month bridge loan and $75 million was from a new $125 million revolving credit
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facility. As the bridge loan was replaced with long-term Senior Notes on March 5, 2003, it has been presented
as long-term debt in the December 31, 2002 balance sheet. These Notes have an effective interest rate of
4.66% over their average 6 year life. Under the revolving credit facility, the Company may select among
various interest rate arrangements. The facility has a three-year term, which may be extended annually with
the consent of the participating banks.

Scheduled maturities of long-term debt for each of the five years subsequent to December 31, 2002 are as
follows:

2003 L $ 20
2004 L 36.0
20005 e e 0.8
2006 . 0.9
2007 and thereafter. .. .. o _260.5

$300.2

Interest paid was $4.4 million in 2002, $3.3 million in 2001, and $3.4 million in 2000.

Note 8. Envirenmental Matters

The Company has been named by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) as a potentially
responsible party (“PRP”) in connection with the Sheboygan River and Harbor Superfund Site in Wisconsin.
In May 2000, the EPA issued a Record of Decision (“ROD”) selecting the remedy for the Site. The
Company is one of several named PRP’s in the proposed cleanup action. The EPA has estimated the cost of
cleanup at $40.9 million. The Company believes that the EPA’s remedy, as specified in the ROD, goes well
beyond what is environmentally protective and cost-effective for the site and largely ignores the results of the
multi-million dollar remedial investigation and feasibility study that the Company performed under EPA
oversight. Additionally, the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (“WDNR"), as a Natural Resource
Trustee, is investigating what additional requirements, if any, the state may have beyond those specified under
the ROD.

The EPA has indicated its intent to address the site in two phases, with the plant site and upper river
constituting the first phase and the middle and lower river and harbor being the second phase. The Company
anticipates entering into a Consent Decree concerning the performance of remedial design and remedial action
for the plant site, the upper river and the flood plain soils, deferring for an unspecified period any action
regarding Phase II. As part of these negotiations the Company has agreed to pay an additional $2.1 million in
past response costs to the EPA.

At December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, the Company had accrued $29.2 and $28.7 million,
respectively, for estimated costs associated with the cleanup of this site. The actual cost will be governed by
numerous factors including the requirements of the WDNR, and may be greater or lower than the amount
accrued. These factors include the results of further investigations, the details of the remedial actions required
by the EPA (in consultation with the WDNR), changes in remedial technologies, the extent of any natural
resource damages, and the outcome of any related litigation. Other PRPs may contribute to the costs of any
final remediation, and/or natural resource damage claims, regarding the middle and lower river and harbor
portions of the Site.

The Company, in cooperation with the WDNR, conducted an investigation of soil and groundwater
contamination at the Company’s Grafton, Wisconsin plant. It was determined that contamination from
petroleum and degreasing products used at the plant are contributing to an off-site groundwater plume. The
Company began remediation of soils in 2001 on the east side of the facility. Additional remediation of soils
began in the fall of 2002 in two other areas on the plant site. While the Company has provided for estimated
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investigation and on-site remediation costs, the extent and timing of future off-site remediation requirements,
if any, are not presently determinable.

The WDNR requested that the Company join it in a cooperative effort to investigate and clean up PCB
contamination in the watershed of the south branch of the Manitowoc River, downstream of the Company’s
New Holstein, Wisconsin facility. Despite the fact that the WDNR’s investigation does not establish the
parties responsible for the PCB contamination, the WDNR has indicated that it believes the Company is a
source and that it expects the Company to participate in the cleanup. The Company has participated in the
first phase of a cooperative cleanup, consisting of joint funding of the removal of soils and sediments in the
source area near its facility. The next phase of the cooperative effort is scheduled to occur in 2003 involving a
stream segment downstream of the source area. The Company has provided for these costs. Although
participation in a cooperative remedial effort after 2003 for the balance of the watershed is under
consideration, it is not possible to reasonably estimate the cost of any such participation at this time.

In addition to the above mentioned sites, the Company is also currently participating with the EPA and
various state agencies at certain other sites to determine the nature and extent of any remedial action which
may be necessary with regard to such other sites. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had accrued
$36.3 million and $36.1 million, respectively, for environmental remediation, including the amounts noted
above relating to the Sheboygan River and Harbor Superfund Site. As these matters continue toward final
resolution, amounts in excess of those already provided may be necessary to discharge the Company from its
obligations for these sites. Such amounts, depending on their amount and timing, could be material to reported
net income in the particular quarter or period which they are recorded. In addition, the ultimate resolution of
these matters, either individually or in the aggregate, could be material to the consolidated financial
statements.

Note 9. Commitments and Contingencies

Various lawsuits and claims, including those involving ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business,
to which the Company is a party, are pending, or have been asserted, against the Company. Although the
outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, and some of them may be disposed of
unfavorably to the Company, management has no reason to believe that their disposition will have a materially
adverse effect on the consolidated financial position or results of operations of the Company.

Note 10. Financial Instruments

The following table presents the carrying amounts and the estimated fair values of financial instruments
at December 31, 2002 and 2001:

2002 2001

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Amount Value Amount Value
Cash and cash equivalents. ............. ... ... ... $333.1  $333.1  $317.6  $317.6
Short-term borrowings . . ...t 110.6 110.6 10.9 10.9
Long-termdebt.......... ... ... ... 300.2 300.2 14.4 14.4
Foreign currency contracts ..................ouevun... (0.2) (0.2) 0.3 0.4
Commodity contracts . ......... ... oo, — 1.1 — (0.5)

The carrying amount of cash equivalents approximates fair value due to their liquidity and short-term
maturities. The carrying value of the Company’s debt approximates fair value due to the variable interest rate
on the majority of the debt. The fair values of foreign currency and commodity contracts reflect the differences
between the contract prices and the forward prices available on the balance sheet date.

The Company does not utilize financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes. The
Company generally does not hedge the net investment in its subsidiaries. All derivative financial instruments
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held at December 31, 2002 will mature within 6 months. All such instruments held at December 31, 2001
matured in 2002.

Effective July 1, 2000, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities”. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 resulted in an insignificant impact on reported
earnings and an unrealized loss of $1.6 million net of tax, classified in accumulated other comprehensive
income. By December 31, 2000, the Company had reclassified $1.3 million of this loss to earnings leaving a
balance of $.3 million in other comprehensive income for its outstanding foreign currency cash flow hedge
contracts. During 2001, the remaining $0.3 million was reclassified to earnings.

The Company’s derivative financial instruments consist of foreign currency forward exchange contracts.
These contracts are recognized on the balance sheet at their fair value, which is the estimated amount at
which they could be settled based on forward market exchange rates. The Company’s foreign subsidiaries use
forward exchange contracts to hedge foreign currency receivables, payables, and other known and forecasted
transactional exposures for periods consistent with the expected cash flow of the underlying transactions. The
contracts generally mature within one year and are designed to limit exposure to exchange rate fluctuations.
On the date a forward exchange contract is entered into, it is designated as a foreign currency cash flow hedge.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contract that is highly effective and qualifies as a foreign currency
cash flow hedge are recorded in other comprehensive income. The Company’s European subsidiaries had
contracts for the sale of $0.2 million and $13.0 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The
European subsidiaries had contracts for the purchase of $4.7 million and $2.0 million at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively.

The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as
well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process
includes linking all derivatives that are designated as foreign currency hedges to specific forecasted
transactions. The Company formally assesses, both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, whether
the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of
hedged items. When it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge or that it has ceased to
be a highly effective hedge, the Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively, as discussed below.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when the derivative is (1) determined to be
no longer effective in offsetting the fair value of the cash flows of a hedged item; (2) sold, terminated, or
exercised; (3) undesignated as a hedge instrument, because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will
occur. When hedge accounting is discontinued, the derivative will be carried at its fair value on the balance
sheet, with changes in its fair value recognized in current period earnings. Any related gains or losses that were
accumulated in other comprehensive income will be recognized immediately in cost of sales.

The Company uses commodity forward purchasing contracts to help control the cost of commodities
(copper and aluminum) used in the production of compressor motors and components and engines. Company
policy allows local managers to contract commodity forwards for a limited percentage of raw material
requirements up to one year in advance. These contracts are not recorded in the balance sheet as they do not
require an initial cash outlay and do not represent a liability until delivery of the commodity. Commodity
forwards outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001 were $14.6 and $25.8 million, respectively.

A portion of export accounts receivable at the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary are sold at a discount.
Discounted Brazilian receivable balances at December 31, 2002 and 2001 were $41.2 and $15.5 million,
respectively, and the discount rate was 4.9% in 2002 and 4.8% in 2001.

Note 11. Stockholders’ Equity

The shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are substantially identical except as to
voting rights. Class A commen stock has no voting rights except the right to i) vote on any amendments that
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NOTES TO CONSQOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

could adversely affect the Class A Protection Provision in the articles of incorporation and ii) vote in other
limited circumstances, primarily involving mergers and acquisitions, as required by law.

A Shareholders’ Rights Plan is in effect for each class of stock. These plans protect shareholders against
unsolicited attempts to acquire control of the Company that do not offer an adequate price to all shareholders.
The rights are not currently exercisable, but would become exercisable at an exercise price of $180 per share,
subject to adjustment, if certain events occurred relating to a person or group acquiring or attempting to
acquire 10% or more of the outstanding shares of Class B common stock. The rights have no voting or
dividend privileges and are attached to, and do not trade separately from, the Class A and Class B common
stock. The rights expire on August 25, 2009. As of December 31, 2002, 13,401,938 shares of Class A common
stock and 5,077,746 shares of Class B common stock were reserved for future exercise under the plans.

Note 12. Nonrecurring Items
2002

Full year 2002 results were adversely impacted by $10.3 million ($6.6 million net of tax or $0.36 per
share) in nonrecurring charges. During the fourth quarter, a charge of $5.8 million ($3.7 million net of tax or
$0.20 per share) was recorded in the Engine & Power Train business. Included in the charge is $4.1 million for
costs, mostly write-downs of fixed assets, associated with the relocation of engine component manufacturing,
and the discontinuation of production activities at its Grafton, Wisconsin facility. Also included in the charge
is $1.7 million for additional environmental clean up costs, primarily additional past response costs levied by
the EPA for its Sheboygan, Wisconsin facility. During the first quarter, a charge of $4.5 million ($2.8 million
net of tax or $0.15 per share) was recorded in the Compressor business. This charge was for costs, primarily
the write-off of certain unusable equipment, related to the relocation of additional rotary compressor lines
from the U.S. to Brazil.

2001

The 2001 results were adversely impacted by $35.4 million ($22.8 million net of tax, or $1.23 per share)
in nonrecurring items. During the third quarter of 2001, the Company offered an early retirement incentive
plan to eligible Corporate, North American Compressor Group and Engine & Power Train Group employees.
Two hundred fifty (250) employees, representing approximately 78% of those eligible, or approximately 20%
of the total salaried workforce in the eligible groups, elected early retirement. The cost of providing the
pension and healthcare benefits associated with this plan amounted to $29.3 million ($18.9 million net of tax)
and has been recorded as a nonrecurring charge in the third quarter. Ongoing cost savings from this action
were estimated to be in a range of $10 to $12 million annually.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the charge of $6.1 million ($3.9 million net of tax, or $.21 per share) in
the Engine & Power Train business related primarily to the transfer of certain engine and component part
production from domestic facilities to the Company’s facilities in the Czech Republic.

2000

In 2000, the Company recorded $33.5 million in nonrecurring charges ($23.3 million net of tax) related
to the restructuring and realignment of its domestic and international compressor manufacturing operations.
Included in this charge was $15.5 million in severance pay and other employee related costs, $3.2 million in
plant closing and exit costs, and $14.8 million in asset impairment charges for idled, unusable and/or
underutilized equipment. As of December 31, 2002 this program was substantially complete.

The $15.5 million charge for severance pay and other employee related costs involves the termination of
approximately 895 employees due to the closing of the compressor manufacturing plant in Somerset,
Kentucky and 600 employees in India caused by the transfer of production to a new facility. At December 31,
2002, this program was substantially complete.
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The plant closing and exit costs relate to the facility in Somerset, Kentucky which was permanently
closed. Production has been transferred to other facilities.

The asset impairment charge represents write-downs to net realizable value of equipment dedicated to
the production of a discontinued compressor model and equipment no longer needed in the restructured
manufacturing operations.

Note 13.  Business Acquisitions

On December 30, 2002, the Company acquired the FASCO Motors Group from Invensys Plc for cash of
$396.6 million and the assumption of approximately $14.5 million in debt. FASCO is a leading manufacturer
in the U.S. of fractional horsepower motors. FASCO manufactures AC motors, DC motors, blowers, gear
motors and linear actuators, all of which are used in a wide variety of applications within the HVAC,
automotive, healthcare and appliance industries. The addition of FASCQO will allow the Company to reach
new customers and markets and enables the Company to deliver higher valued-added products and complete
customer solutions in all of its business segments.

The acquisition was financed with proceeds from $325 million in new bank borrowings and internal cash
flows. Of $325 million in new borrowings, $250 million was from a six-month bridge loan and $75 million was
from a new three-year $125 million revolving credit facility. As the bridge loan is expected to be replaced with
permanent long-term financing, it has been presented as long-term debt in the December 31, 2002 balance
sheet.

The purchase price allocation has been prepared on a preliminary basis, and reasonable changes are
expected as additional information becomes available. The following is a summary of the estimated values of
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of the acquisition:

Current assets .. ... $110.4
Property, plant and equipment ...... ... ... 158.2
Intangible asSels . .. .o i it 55.0
GoodWill . L .o 223.2

Total assets aCqUITed. . . ... ..ottt e e $546.8
Current liabilities ........ e $ 922
Other Habillties . . ...t 537
Long-term debt . . ... e 0.6

Total liabilities assumed . ... ... ... i e $146.5

FASCQ will be the basis for forming a fourth reportable segment, Electrical Components, in 2003. The
goodwill of $223.2 will be included in that segment. None of the goodwill from the FASCQO acquisition is
deductible for tax purposes. The $55 million of intangible assets consists of $15 million for a two-year non-
compete agreement, $20 million for trade names and trademarks with an estimated ten year life, and
$20 million for various trade names and trademarks with indefinite lives.

The final value of goodwill and the intangible assets are subject to adjustment as third party valuations are
completed.
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The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the results of operations as though the
acquisition had been completed at the beginning of the respective periods.

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2002 2001
Nt Sales oo $1,789.8  $1.865.6
Income before taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change ................. 100.2 86.2
Net INCOME ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e e 59.6 53.0
Basic Earnings Per Share .. ... . o $§ 323 § 285

The Company also expended $4.0 million in April 2002 for the acquisition of Manufacturing Data
Systems, Inc., a supplier of Internet-enabled, open-architecture software motion control applications that

increase manufacturing flexibility and enable agile manufacturing for the Computer Numerical Control
(CNC) and General Motion Control (GMC) markets.

In May 2001, the Company acquired an engine manufacturing facility in the Czech Republic for
$14.9 million. This transaction was accounted for as an asset purchase. The results of operations for this
facility since the acquisition are included in the Company’s statement of consolidated income.

Note 14. Quarterly Financial Data

Quarter
First Second Third Fourth Total

2002

Netsales. ... i $333.4  $395.3  $3109 $304.2  $1,343.8

Gross profit .. ... 36.8 66.4 49.8 38.9 1919

Income before cumulative effect of accounting

Change ... 7.2 234 14.2 9.3 54.1

Netincome. . ... it it iiin e 4.1 234 14.2 9.3 51.0

Basic and diluted earnings per share ............... $022 $127 $077 $050 §$ 276
2001 .

Net sales . oo $404.7  $382.0 $313.1  $299.1  §$1,398.9

Gross profit ... .. ... 49.3 57.6 20.4 29.0 156.3

NetinCOmE . . ..ottt i 14.0 17.5 5.2 6.1 42.8

Basic and diluted earnings per share ............... $074 $094 $028 $033 § 230
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None,

PART I

ftem 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Company

The information pertaining to directors under the caption “Election of Directors” in the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement relating to its 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated herein by
reference. Information regarding executive officers required by Item 401 of Regulation S-K is furnished in
Part [ of this report. The information required to be reported pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K will be
set forth under the caption “Appendix A — Share Ownership — Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement relating to its 2003 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information under the captions “Appendix B — Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Com-
mittee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Election of Directors — Director Compensation” in the
Company’s definitive Proxy Statement relating to its 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated
herein by reference.

Ttem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information under the caption “Appendix A — Share Ownership” in the Company’s definitive Proxy
Statement relating to its 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated herein by reference. No
information is required to be reported pursuant to Item 2019d) of Regulation S-K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information under the caption “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation™ in
the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement relating to its 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 14, Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, after evaluating the effective-
ness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(c} and
15d-14(c)) as of a date within 90 days before the filing date of this report, have concluded that, as of such
date the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were adequate and effective to ensure that material
information relating to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries would be made known to them by others
within those entities.

(b) Changes in Internal Controls

There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could
significantly affect those internal controls subsequent to the date of the evaluation, nor were there any
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in our internal controls. As a result, no corrective actions were
required or undertaken.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K
{a) (1) and (2) Financial Statements
See “Financial Statements”

(3) See Index to Exhibits (Item 15(c), below)

(b) Report on Form 8-K filed in the fourth quarter of 2002

On October 2, 2002, the Company filed a report on Form 8-X reporting under Item 7, “Financial
Statements and Exhibits,” the issuance of a press release regarding third quarter 2002 earnings.

On October 10, 2002, the Company filed a report on Form 8-X reporting under Item 35, “Other Events,”
the issuance of a press release regarding its engine product recall.

On November 27, 2002, the Company filed a report on Form 8-K reporting under Item 7, “Financial
Statements and Exhibits,” the issuance of a press release regarding its Agreement to purchase FASCO
Motors from Invensys.

On December 30, 2002, the Company filed a report on Form 8-X reporting under Item 7, “Financial

Statements and Exhibits,” the issuance of a press release regarding its Acquisition of FASCO Motors from
Invensys.

{c¢) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description
3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Tecumseh Products Company (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit (3) of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1991, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Articles of Incorporation of Tecumseh Products
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit B-5 of the registrant’s Form 8 Amendment No. 1
dated April 22, 1992 to Form 10 Registration Statement dated April 24, 1965, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

3.3 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Articles of Incorporation of Tecumseh Products
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit (4)(c) of the registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1994, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, File No. 0-452)

3.4%  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Tecumseh Products Company as amended through
February 26, 2003

4.1 Note Purchase Agreement dated March 5, 2003 by and among Tecumseh Products Company
and certain Purchasers listed therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed March 7, 2003 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, File No. 0-452)

4.2 Guaranty Agreement dated March 5, 2003 in made by certain subsidiaries of Tecumseh Products
Company in favor of the Purchasers of the Notes (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed March 7, 2003 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

4.3 Form of Note (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K as filed March 7, 2003 with the Securities and Exchange Commission, File
No. 0-452)
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Exhibit
Number

10.1

10.2

10.3

104

10.5

10.6*

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12*

10.13

Description

Amended and Restated Class B Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to
Form 8 Amendment No. 1 dated April 22, 1992 to Form 8-A registering Common Stock
Purchase Rights dated January 23, 1991, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
File No. 0-452)

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Class B Rights Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4 to Form 8 Amendment No. 2 dated October 2, 1992 to Form §-A
registering Common Stock Purchase Rights dated January 23, 1991, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Class B Rights Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4 to Form 8-A/A Amendment No. 3 dated June 22, 1993 to Form 8-A
registering Common Stock Purchase Rights dated January 23, 1991, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Class B Rights Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed August 26, 1999
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Class B Rights Agreement, dated as of

August 22, 2001, between Tecumseh Products Company and State Street Bank and Trust
Company, N.A., as successor Class B Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to
Form 8-A/A Amendment No. 5 dated September 19, 2001 to Form 8-A registering Common
Stock Purchase Rights dated January 23, 1991, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, File No. 0-452)

Fifth Amendment to Class B Rights Agreement, dated as of July 15, 2002, between Tecumseh
Products Company, State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A. as the existing agent, and
Equiserve Trust Company, N.A. as successor Class B Rights Agent

Class A Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Form 8-A registering
Class A Common Stock Purchase Rights dated April 22, 1992, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

Amendment No. 1 to Class A Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to
Form 8 Amendment No. 1 dated October 2, 1992 to Form 8-A registering Class A Common
Stock Purchase Rights dated April 22, 1992, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, File No. 0-452)

Amendment No. 2 to Class A Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to
Form 8-A/A Amendment No. 2 dated June 22, 1993 to Form 8-A registering Class A Common
Stock Purchase Rights dated April 22, 1992, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, File No. 0-452)

Third Amendment to Class A Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed August 26, 1999 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

Fourth Amendment to Class A Rights Agreement dated as of August 22, 2001, between
Tecumseh Products Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., as successor
Class A Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-A/A Amendment
No. 4 dated September 19, 2001 to Form 8-A registering Class A Common Stock Purchase
Rights dated April 22, 1992, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, File

No. 0-452)

Fifth Amendment to Class A Rights Agreement, dated as of July 15, 2002, between Tecumseh

Products Company, State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A. as the existing agent, and
Equiserve Trust Company, N.A. as successor Class A Rights Agent

Description of Death Benefit Plan (management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement)
(incosporated by reference to Exhibit (10) (f) to registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1992, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, File
No. 0-452)
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Exhibit
Number

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21*

10.22

10.23*

10.24

10.25%

21*
24%
99.1%
99.2*

* Filed herewith

(d) Financial Statement Schedules

None.

Description

Management Incentive Plan, as amended through November 22, 1995 (management contract or
compensatory plan or arrangement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10) (h) to registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-X for the year ended December 31, 1995, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

Third Amendment to Management Incentive Plan, adopted January 22, 1997 (management
contract or compensatory plan or arrangement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10) (i) to
registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

Fourth Amendment to Management Incentive Plan effective January 1, 2000 (management
contract or compensatory plan or arrangement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to
registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

Fifth Amendment to Management Incentive Plan effective November 22, 2000 (management
contract or compensatory plan or arrangement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to
registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan effective June 27, 2001
{management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.16 to registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

First Amendment to the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan adopted September 26, 2001
(management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.17 to registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

Outside Directors’ Voluntary Deferred Compensation Plan adopted November 25, 1998
(management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit (10) (k) to registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1998, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

First Amendment to Outside Directors’ Voluntary Deferred Compensation Plan adopted
August 28, 2002 (management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement)

Amended and Restated Voluntary Deferred Compensation Plan effective November 28, 2001
(management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement) (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.19 to registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,

2001, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Voluntary Deferred Compensation Plan adopted
September 25, 2002 (management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement)

Description of Voluntary Early Retirement Program effective July 2, 2001 (management contract
or compensatory plan or arrangement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, File No. 0-452)

Director Retention Phantom Stock Plan as amended and restated November 27, 2002
(management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement)

Subsidiaries to the Company

Power of Attorney

Certification of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
Certification of Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

TecuMSEH Probucts COMPANY

Date: March 13, 2003 By /s/ Topbp W. HERRICK

Todd W. Herrick
Chairman of the Board of Directors,
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Office Date of Signing
/s/ Topp W. HERRICK Chairman of the Board of Directors, March 13, 2003
Todd W. Herrick President, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/  DaviD W, Kay Vice President, Treasurer and March 13, 2003
David W. Kay Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Accounting and Principal
Financial Cfficer) and Director

* Director March 13, 2003
Ralph W. Babb, Jr.

* Director March 13, 2003
Peter M. Banks

* Director March 13, 2003
Jon E. Barfield

* Director March 13, 2003
J. Russell Fowler

* Director March 13, 2003
Stephen L. Hickman

*By: /s/ DaviD W. Kay

David W. Kay
Attorney-in-Fact
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CERTIFICATION

I, Todd W. Herrick, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Tecumseh Products Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information
relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a
date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

¢) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation, to the Registrant’s auditors and the Audit Committee of Registrant’s Board of Directors (or
persons performing the equivalent function);

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and
have identified for the Registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the Registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not
there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal
controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard
to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

/s/ Topp W. HERRICK

Todd W. Herrick
President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 13, 2003







CERTIFICATION

1, David W. Kay, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Tecumseh Products Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly. present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information
relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared,;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a
date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

¢) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation, to the Registrant’s auditors and the Audit Committee of Registrant’s Board of Directors (or
persons performing the equivalent function);

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and
have identified for the Registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the Registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not
there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal
controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard
to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

/s/ DaviD W. KAy

David W. Kay
Vice President, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer

Dated: March 13, 2003
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David W. Kay
Vice President, Treasurer &
Chief Financial Officer

Michael R. Forman
Vice President of Human
Resources

Daryl P. McDonald
General Counsel & Secretary

Other Senior Management

Kent B. Herrick
Vice President & Assistant to
the CEO

John Ferguson
Vice President, North American
Compressor Group

Gerson Verissimo
President, Tecumseh do Brasil,
Ltda.

Gilbert Marchiol
President, Tecumseh Europe,
S.A.

Vipin Sondhi
Managing Director, Tecumseh
Products India, Ltd.

James Doyle
President, FASCO Motors

Richard Ruebusch
Vice President, Engine & Power
Train Group

Norman Heidebrecht
President, Little Giant Pump
Company

Gregory Peabody
President, MP Pumps, Inc.

Todd W. Herrick®
Chairman of the Board of
Directors, President & Chief
Executive Officer of the
Company

David W. Kay"

Vice President, Treasurer &
Chief Financial Officer of the
Company

Ralph W. Babb, Jr.*¢/N

President & Chief Executive

Officer, Comerica Incorporated
Commercial and savings
banking

Peter M. Banks® /N
Partner in XR Ventures, LLC
Investments

Jor E. Barfield"/”
Chairman, President & Chief
Executive Officer of The
Bartech Group, Inc.
Contract employment and
related staffing services

J. Russell Fowler®*N

Retired, Chairman Emeritus of

Jacobson Stores, Inc.
Mercantile business

Stephen L. Hickman®
Chairman of the Board of
Directors and Chief Executive
Officer of Brazeway, Inc.
Manufacturing

Member of Audit Committee
Member of Governance & Executive
Compensation Committee

Member of Nominating Committee
Member of Pension & Investment
Committee
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Key Facilities and Subsidiaries

Tecumseh Engine Company
Grafton, W1
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